Echoes in motion: An acoustic camera (DIDSON) as a monitoring tool in applied freshwater ecology

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von

Manuel Langkau

aus Essen

Münster

2018

Berichterstatter (Gutachter):

Prof. Dr. Jost Borcherding

Prof. Dr. Hartmut Arndt

Tag der letzten mündlichen Prüfung: 26.02.2018

«Das Prinzip aller Dinge ist Wasser;

aus Wasser ist alles, und ins Wasser kehrt alles zurück.»

Thales von Milet (um 624 - 546 v. Chr.)

DANKSAGUNG / ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Mein ausdrücklicher Dank gilt Prof. Dr. Jost Borcherding für sein Vertrauen und seine Bereitschaft diese Uni-externe Promotion zu ermöglichen und zu betreuen. Sein guter Rat und seine Geduld mit einem berufstätigen Doktoranden waren eine große Hilfe.

Prof. Dr. Hartmut Arndt danke ich für die Begutachtung dieser Promotion und seine Geduld und Unterstützung.

Mein besonderer Dank gilt den Fischereiverbänden NRW, da die Arbeit aus Mitteln der Fischereiabgabe finanziert wurde.

Für die Bereitstellung von Örtlichkeiten und die professionelle Unterstützung und Kooperation danke ich Markus Kühlmann und seinem Team vom Ruhrverband, sowie dem LANUV.

Dem Vorstand und gesamten Team des Landesfischereiverbandes Westfalen und Lippe e.V. danke ich für die Möglichkeit der Promotion an diesem Thema und im Besonderen, gilt mein Dank Dr. Marc B. Schmidt, für die fachliche und freundschaftliche Betreuung vor Ort.

Ich danke meinen Eltern, Diemut und Wolfgang Langkau und meinem Bruder Daniel Langkau und seiner Frau Silke Langkau, für immer offene Ohren während der Leidensphasen und die mentale Unterstützung zu allen Zeiten. Ohne euch wäre es kaum vorstellbar gewesen sich weiter zu motivieren.

Ich danke Andreas Scharbert für viele gemeinsame Angelabenteuer und seine stetige mentale Unterstützung und aufbauende Gespräche in den schweren Zeiten.

Ich danke Svenja Gertzen für ihre Ratschläge und Unterstützung.

Ich danke Lisa Heermann für ihre positive Art und aufmunternde Worte.

Ich danke Paul für viele gemeinsame Angelabenteuer und ein offenes Ohr.

Ich danke Jenny Arndt, die sich schon im Vorfeld, als Mathematikerin, auf eine biologische Doktorarbeit gefreut hat.

Ich danke Jennifer Heermann für Telefongespräche, wenn es mal wieder nicht so gut lief.

Inhaltsverzeichnis

nhaltsverzeichnis	1
Abbreviations and terms	2
Teilpublikationen	3
Abstract	5
ntroduction	6
Vaterial and Methods 1	3
Results and Discussion	21
CHAPTER I	21
CHAPTER II	9
CHAPTER III	5
Conclusions	'1
References7	'3
KURZZUSAMMENFASSUNG 8	5
ERKLÄRUNG 8	57
Curriculum vitae	9

Abbreviations and terms

0+	same definition as young of the year fishes, that had hatched within that year				
Beam	Defined volume of water ensonified by the sonar				
ARIS	Adaptive Resolution Imaging Sonar				
Bull	The phrase "bulls" originates from the Garonne River and is related to the Occitan language (Cassou-Leins et al., 2000). It has been established among French scientists and describes a typical <i>A. alosa</i> mating with circling individuals.				
DIDSON	Dual Frequency Identification Sonar				
Echogram	A chart plotting received sonar data over time. Typically the x-axis shows the time or the pings and the y-axis the received intensities over the range.				
EFA	Elliptic Fourier Analysis				
Fish trace	Footprint of an object (fish) in the sonar beam plotted in an echogram over the time.				
HPP	Hydro power plant				
NEFD	Normalised Elliptic Fourier Descriptor				
PCA	Principal Component Analysis				
YOY	Young of the year fishes, that had hatched within that year				

Teilpublikationen

- Langkau, M. C., Balk, H., Schmidt, M. B. & Borcherding, J. (2012). Can acoustic shadows identify fish species? A novel application of imaging sonar data. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **19**, 313-322.
- Langkau, M. C., Clavé, D., Schmidt, M. B. & Borcherding, J. (2016). Spawning behaviour of Allis shad Alosa alosa: new insights based on imaging sonar data. *Journal of Fish Biology* 88, 2263-2274.

Abstract

Aquatic environments are increasingly faced with anthropogenic impact. Rivers have been fully developed into navigable waterways resulting in a dramatic loss of habitats and longitudinal and horizontal disconnection. Human sewage polluted rivers and in addition with overfishing and a rising recreational use, most European diadromous fish species have suffered and can be graded as vulnerable. Species-conservation and re-stocking projects support to save diverse fish communities. Capable monitoring- and assessment tools are urgent, given that knowledge is the key for sustainable management. The DIDSON, a multibeam sonar, delivers video-like live images in high resolution, enabling the measurement of fish length and behavioral observations even in turbid water and by night in a non-invasive manner.

It could be shown that a special application of the sonar offers potential to discriminate fish species based on their characteristic acoustic shadows. Beside the possibility to count and measure fish and to observe their behavior this provides additional valuable information in certain monitoring applications.

New insights in the spawning behavior of *Alosa Alosa* could be revealed on a spawning site in the Garonne River, France. It could be observed that spawning events are not restricted to one couple since additional individuals join. Drifting clouds of sexual products and micro bubbles could be detected with the sonar and were consistent with the number of sound based spawning measurements (by human hearing) and thus served as an indicator for spawning activity.

A mid- term application of the sonar in front of a trash rack of a hydro power plant demonstrated the potential to gain knowledge in the field of spatial ecology of fish with high temporal resolution. An hourly fish abundance raster was chosen as a measure of fish activity to intuitively illustrate alternating diel and seasonal activity patterns at a glance. Distinct patterns and migration peaks of three groups 'fish', 'eels' and 'shoals' could be identified. The size class potentially at risk to pass the trash rack, was faced the power production data to identify time windows of higher and lower risk of entrainment and respective fish protection requirements.

Keywords: DIDSON, fish activity, fish protection, fish species discrimination, hydro acoustic, spawning activity

Introduction

Aquatic as well as terrestrial environments are facing a continuous increase of anthropologic impact, as human's experienced strong attraction since the beginning of time. With the beginning of the industrialization fish are confronted with a steady increase of man-made transformation of their environment (Limburg & Waldman, 2009). Rivers have been fully developed into navigable waterways by straightening their riverbed and applying bank reinforcements. Weirs and dams were built for drinking water abstraction and shipping, while power plants were constructed for energy production. Industrial and human sewage polluted many rivers (Limburg & Waldman, 2009).

This led to a dramatic loss of habitat diversity and lateral and longitudinal connection of rivers, which is crucial for a diverse fish community (Ward, 1989; Scharbert & Borcherding, 2013). These factors together with overfishing represent the major causes for the dramatic declines, and in some cases, the extinction of diadromous fish species in European rivers (De Groot et al., 2002; Limburg & Waldman, 2009). Additionally, today water has a big attraction as recreational area. Thus, besides shipping, sport boat traffic has potential to negatively influence fish and other aquatic animals.

Great efforts have been done to improve the conditions and to learn from mistakes made in the past. Re-introduction projects have successfully led to returning diadromous species in some systems, e.g. Houting (*Coregonus oxyrinchus*) (Borcherding et al., 2013) and European Shad (*Alosa alosa*) (Hundt et al., 2015) in the Rhine system. However, success of sustaining a diverse fish community depends on knowledge. Managers need to know exactly about the demands of a species and the developments of population status.

Powerful examination tools are required to monitor fish populations. Classical methods like netting and electro fishing can be a solution, but in some cases populations are vulnerable and non-invasive methods are needed to avoid negative impact caused by stock-assessment methods. Thus, in some areas non-invasive monitoring methods are therefore preferential (Johnson & Moursund, 2000).

Hydro acoustics represent such a less- or non-invasive method and gives the additional possibility to assess fish behavior. Depending on the task, nowadays a variety of hydro acoustic instruments are available to address different topics of fish monitoring without the need to catch and handle one fish.

6

Fishery acoustics

Water is not only the environment of aquatic life. It is also a suitable medium for the transmission of sound. In contrast to light and radio waves, sound waves have a comparably low attenuation under water and travel with a speed of ~ 1450 m s⁻¹ (freshwater) (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005), depending on the physical characteristics of the water. Aquatic animals, e.g. marine mammals took advantage of this phenomenon by evolving echolocation and remote sensing via sound to communicate over hundreds of kilometers in the oceans (Schevill et al., 1964; Walker, 1963; Watkins et al., 1987 cited in Simmonds & McLennan, 2005). Leonardo da Vinci already documented that ships could be heard over long distances by installing a long tube in the water and listen at its end in 1490 (Urick, 1983).

The potential of transmitting and receiving sound waves (active sonar) to detect fish over long distances was recognized already in the first part of the 20th century although the main driving factor in technical development can be related to military research in the first and second World Wars (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005; Urick, 1983).

However, generally the function of acoustic instruments e.g. sonars and echosounders can be described by the emission of a pulsed pressure front (sound wave), which propagates at the local speed of sound until a part of the transmitted sound wave will be reflected and scattered in the moment it encounters another medium or target. While one part of the energy is transmitted in to the new medium the remainder is travelling back and can be received by the sonar as an echo (Simmonds & McLennnan, 2005).

While the first fish schoal related echoes were mentioned by Rallier du Baty (1927) and Portier (1924) cited in Simmonds & McLennan (2005), the first successful acoustic detection of fish was demonstrated in an experimental setup by Kimura (1929).

The exploration of the oceans by the use of sonars has many advantages. Compared to conventional biological sampling methods, mobile surveys enable the coverage of a large volume of water per time (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005) and represent a fast remote method that is less-invasive and non-extractive, by providing a high spatial resolution (Chu, 2011).

The technological progress led to the application of acoustics in fishery, enabling an effective method for fish schoal detection and capture. This is true especially after the

Second World War (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005). Up to date hydro acoustic methods have reached a high quality in acoustic hardware, as well as in the understanding and post processing of acoustic data.

Especially for the study of fish populations and ecology by means of the estimation of fish abundance, distribution on time and space axis and population size structures, acoustic methods and the mobile application of scientific split-beam echosounders have established among and in combination with other fishery methods. As a result a European standard protocol has been developed to ensure the comparability of acoustic survey data (Ref. No. EN 15910:2014 E).

Multi-Beam

One of the latest milestones in the history of fishery acoustics is the development of multi-beam technology (Chu, 2011). Imaging sonars represent one special type of multi-beam sonar. In the last decade the development of these devices experienced large technological progress.

The DIDSON (Dual Frequency Identification Sonar - www.soundmetrics.com), which was used in the present study, represents a high-resolution imaging sonar using a unique system of acoustic lenses to focus the emitted sound to generate high quality images underwater (Belcher et al., 2001). It counts to the latest developments in the field of sonar imaging technology. Recently the follower ARIS (Adaptive Resolution Imaging Sonar) was released which is based on the same principle by delivering even higher resolution due to a higher operation frequency and a higher number of beams. This type of visualization sonars, often called 'acoustic camera', deliver video like sequences with high frame rates. Although it is also possible to display sonar recordings in classical echograms, plotting echo intensities over the range as a function of time, imaging sonars enable the playback of videos showing high resolution pictures of fish, including information about their shape, size and behavior. However, originally engineered for underwater surveillance, inspection and exploration new fields and old challenging hydro acoustic topics in fisheries research and fish ecology can be addressed by bridging the gap between existing fisheriesassessment sonar and optical systems (Moursund et al., 2003).

During the last 15 years a variety of research in fish ecological applications has been conducted since fish biologists started to explore the potential of DIDSON as a fish monitoring tool. Moursund et al. (2003) early evaluated the sonar, based on the

multibeam nature, to represent a robust fish monitoring tool in acoustically noisy environments commonly encountered at hydropower facilities.

Most of the studies addressed fish detection, counting and sizing due to the ability of the system to work even in turbid water. In this context examinations have been conducted in wild rivers (Crossman et al., 2011; Han & Asada, 2007; Hayes et al., 2015; MacNamara & MacCarthy, 2014; Magowan et al., 2012; Maxwell & Gove, 2007; Pipal et al., 2010; Rakowitz et al., 2013; Rand & Fukushima, 2014) as well as in aqua culture (Han et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2014) and marine environments (Frias-Torres & Luo, 2009). Here, Han & Uye (2009) and Makabe et al. (2012) demonstrated the detection capabilities of DIDSON by assessing abundance and distribution of jelly fish, which is quite demanding regarding the low density differences between jelly fish and water.

Another major topic addressed, is the observation of fish behavior, which was very limited in turbid waters, even with optical systems and conventional hydro acoustic methods in the past. Thus, fish behavioral studies were often restricted to experimental setups in the lab where the visibility can be kept constant. Becker et al. (2013) and Xie et al. (2008) examined the impact of boat traffic on the behavior of fish in estuaries and migrating salmon respectively. Predation related behavior was examined with DIDSON by Becker & Suthers (2014) and Price et al. (2013) while O'Connell et al. (2014) used the DIDSON follower ARIS to analyze the behavior of bull sharks at a sharksafe barrier. The selectivity and the efficiency of trawls have great relevance in fishery. Naturally that several studies involved DIDSON to investigate fish behavior and trawl avoidance in the marine (Handegard & Williams, 2008; Williams et al., 2013) and even freshwater application (Juza et al., 2013; Rakowitz et al., 2012).

The reliability of the measurements based on imaging sonar data is an important point. Several studies addressed the accuracy of sizing (Burwen et al., 2010; Hightower et al., 2012; Tuser et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2014) and counting (Holmes et al., 2006; Petreman et al., 2014) measurements to carve out the limitations of the system. In summary the authors agree that DIDSON is a valuable tool to estimate fish length with some restrictions. The accuracy can vary with the fish size, the orientation of the fish in the beam and also the morphology of the species. Tuser et al. (2014) and Hightower et al. (2012) demonstrated that the sizing error is larger for small fish compared to bigger fish and the dependence of the fish's orientation in the

beam array. A rather perpendicular angle of the fish in relation to the center of the beam array allows the most accurate measurements. Tuser et al. (2014) developed an error function to compensate for DIDSON based length measurements in an experimental setup. Hightower et al. (2012) found underestimations of the size of Atlantic Sturgeon and related this to the characteristic morphology and the constrained difficulty to see the end of the snout and tail. Probably the underestimations in the size of cultured Chinese sturgeon found by Zhang et al. (2014) represent this issue. Despite limitations and sources of inaccuracy, DIDSON length measurements were demonstrated to correlate with the total length of the fishes and hence deliver ecological relevant data extracted with a non-invasive method.

In the field of DIDSON based fish species identification research is still scarce. Mueller et al. (2008) found that eels can be identified and separated from debris by a computer driven process under certain conditions and that tail-beat-patterns in DIDSON echograms can be used to discriminate between Sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) and Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) based on tail-beat frequency and fish length (Mueller et al., 2010). Grote et al. (2013) used a Bayesian mixture model based on the known fork length distributions of four fish species to apportion DIDSON observations by species in a fishway entrance at a dam in the Penobscot River, Maine. Target species was American shad (*Alosa sappidissima*).

Objective

This thesis was focused on contributing knowledge in three fields with high demand for research and aimed for building bridges between latest technological progress in sonar hardware and applied fish ecological questions (Fig. 1).

Species identification

Acoustic fish species identification is one of the most challenging topics (Horne, 2000) and up to date still a field that has been identified to have a high demand for further research (Pollom & Rose, 2016). Against the background of a rising anthropological influence on rivers and the need of non-invasive fish monitoring tools, a special setup of the sonar was examined to explore species specific data contained

in DIDSON recordings and to find post processing methods for fish species discrimination by analyzing acoustic fish shadows, which are strongly correlated to fishes' outer shapes.

Behaviour

Most European diadromous fish species today are classified as threatened or endangered due to anthropogenic impact (Limburg & Waldman, 2009). In the last decade, remaining populations of the anadromous Allis Shad (*Alosa alosa*) have declined seriously and are now characterized as vulnerable (Rougier et al., 2012). Due to the nocturnal spawning at sites with challenging monitoring conditions the knowledge about spawning behavior is still poor. A DIDSON was installed at a known Allis Shad spawning site to reveal details of the spawning behavior and the possibilities to use the sonar based observations as a measure for spawning activity and success.

Fish Activity

In many rivers potamodromous and diadromous fish migration is influenced by the obstruction with hydro power plants. Compared to the quite good knowledge and the existence of state of the art guidelines for the upstream transfer of fish (DWA, 2014), the knowledge about efficient downstream transfer and the demands of downstream migrating fish is still poorly assessed, although the EU Water Framework Directive (Directive 2000/60/EC) requires both, unobstructed migration up- and downstream. Knowledge of the spatial ecology of fish is the key for successful management actions and can on the other hand be a source of error when misunderstood (Cooke et al., 2016). A DIDSON was mounted in front of a trash rack of a hydro power plant between April and December. The potential to use DIDSON data to intuitively illustrate diel and seasonal fish activity patterns at a glance was evaluated and time windows with higher or lower entrainment risk and respective fish protection requirements were derived, by facing activity data of small fish with power production data.

- CHAPTER IFish species: Evaluation of discriminative properties of acousticfish shadows and a possible post processing method.
- CHAPTER II Behaviour: Evaluation of the number of Allis Shads involved in a spawning event and the possibilities to use the sonar based observations as a measure for spawning activity and success.
- **CHAPTER III** Fish activity: Assessment of diel and seasonal fish activity patterns in front of a hydro power plant and derived time windows with higher or lower entrainment risk and respective fish protection requirements.



Figure 1. Overview about the three fields of research the present thesis was focused on.

Material and Methods

Underwater sound and sonar

Although multibeam imaging sonars are quite complex instruments, their general function is based on the same principles of underwater sound, which are valid for simple single beam sonars. The theory of underwater sound has been described in detail, among others by Simmonds & McLennan (2005) and Urick (1983). Most of the information given below is based on these books.

SONAR is the abbreviation for **SO**und **N**avigation **A**nd **R**anging. Sonars work after the principle of transmission and reception of sound. The transducer of a sonar system converts electrical energy into acoustic energy and emits a pulse of a certain frequency (depending on the sonar system) into the water. The sound propagates away from the transducer through the medium in a beam similar to the beam of a torch light. Targets reflect the pulse which travels back to the transducer to be received as an echo and transformed into electrical energy again. The received signal is then amplified and processed in various ways depending on the kind of system to be finally displayed in an echogram on a control screen (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005).

In comparison to light and radio waves, the attenuation of sound waves underwater is lower. Depending on the physical characteristics of the water, sound is traveling with a speed of ~ 1450 m s⁻¹ in freshwater. Temperature, salinity and pressure affect the speed of sound underwater. A sound wave is characterized by advancing pressure fronts of certain frequency and wavelength. While the wavelength (λ) is defined by the distance between the pressure fronts in the wave, the frequency (f) in Hz can be described by the number of cycles per second. The speed of sound (c) can be calculated by the product of λ and f. (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005).

 $c = \lambda f$

The frequency and the wavelength are crucial parameters affecting the spatial resolution of sonars. The smaller the wavelength or the higher the frequency the better is the resolution and thus the ability to discriminate between targets that are close together. This is for example important for the detection of fish in denser schools or fish that are close to the bottom. The detection range of sonars is also

depending on the frequency. With increasing frequency the absorption losses raise rapidly due to higher friction losses (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005). The higher the frequency the shorter is the possible detection range. As a result, the frequency of a sonar has an important influence on its application. There is a trade-off between range and resolution.

Regarding conventional sonars, frequencies between 30-200 kHz are normally used for fish detection, while higher frequencies are suitable e.g. for plankton studies. Lower frequencies are used for the detection of large targets like fish schools on long ranges in the marine environment (Simmonds & McLennan, 2005).

DIDSON (Dual Frequency Identification Sonar)

Although the DIDSON basically works with the same principles like conventional echosounders, it is necessary to describe the more complex architecture due to the high number of beams used and to explain the difference of its application in the field.

Traditionally the use of single or split-beam sonars is carried out in mobile surveys with a vertical beam orientation in order to capture the water column under the boat, including the targets of interest e.g. nekton or plankton (Fig. 2). This enables to cover a large volume of water per time.



Figure 2. a) Schematic vertical beam orientation of surveys with conventional sonar echosounder application. b) Usual horizontal beam orientation of DIDSON monitoring application.

Following a different approach, the DIDSON is typically used in a fixed horizontal application, mounted on a pan-and-tilt unit to allow the adjustment of the field of view. In contrast to conventional echosounders the DIDSON can be described as an acoustic camera due to its ability to generate pictures from underwater, which are comparable to images obtained by optical systems. This is facilitated by the use of up to 96 single-beams (0.3° horizontal x 14° vertical each) forming a beam-array with an opening angle of 29° horizontally x 14° vertically (Fig. 3 a)). The close horizontal alignment of the narrow beams in the array enables the scan of the environment with a high resolution. The DIDSON can be operated in two frequencies, the detection mode at 1.1 MHz (ranges up to 40 m) and the identification mode at 1.8 MHz (ranges up to 15 m).



Figure 3. a) Schematic illustration of the beam-array spanning the field of view. b) Top view of the beam with range- and cross-range axis marked.

As described above such high frequencies permit a high resolution. Medical ultrasound devices work on shortest ranges, with even higher frequencies between 6-8 MHz. In the detection frequency the single beams dimensions are 0.6° x 14° forming the same field of view with 29° x 14° with a lower resolution. Frame rates up to 15 frames s⁻¹ deliver video like sequences. Although the obtained video sequences have a 3D appearance, the sonar delivers just 2D information. The DIDSON beam is defined by the range-dimension and the cross-range dimension (Fig. 3 b)). The resolution can be calculated for both by calculating the size of the "acoustic pixels" defined by the 512 pixels in the range-dimension and the 96 beams in the cross-range-dimension. Because the number of range pixels is fixed, the height of the pixels increases with a larger range adjustment (called "window length" in the sonar topside software). Hence, the range resolution decreases with longer window length adjustments. The width of the pixels increases with the increase of the range due to

the opening of the single beams. Hence the cross-range resolution is higher in closer proximity to the emitter than far away. Closer to the sonar the beams are still thinner, allowing a higher resolution. The highest resolution can therefore be obtained by observing objects in closer range to the sonar with a small window length setting. The formulas to calculate the sonars resolution at a certain range are as followed

(Soundmetrics Corp. – www.soundmetrics.com) (Here for the example of 1.8 MHz and 96 beams):

Range resolution

Height of the acoustic pixel [cm]:

$$H = \frac{R [cm]}{512}$$

H is the acoustic pixel height. *R* is here defined as the range set to be covered in the sonar viewer (window length). For example a window length setting of 5 m results in a pixel height of about 1 cm $\left(\frac{500 \text{ cm}}{512} = 0.98 \text{ cm}\right)$.

Cross-range-resolution

Width of acoustic pixel at a certain range [cm]:

$$W = \frac{R_2^1[cm]}{96}$$

W is the acoustic pixel width. The cross-range at a certain range is defined as $R^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

For example the width of the acoustic pixel at a range of 5 m is 2.6 cm:

$$(\frac{500\frac{1}{2}[cm]}{96} = 2.60 \ cm)$$

The horizontal application of the sonar results in pictures seen with a bird view perspective on the horizontal "plane" covered by the sonar beam-array similar as schematically illustrated in Fig. 3 b). One has to consider that there is no information about the exact position of a target in the 14° of the vertical domain. The position in

the horizontal (cross-range dimension) can be measured. It is defined by the angular deviation to the acoustic axis defining the center of the beam array (Fig. 3 b)).

The DIDSON possesses a specially designed ping cycle to avoid cross talk among the 96 single beams. To avoid adjacent beams to listen to pings from others, one frame (image) is established by a ping cycle where always 12 single beams, in a total of 8 bundles, are "fired" in a certain sequence resulting in a clear image (8x12 beams=96 total).

The DIDSON is more or less insensitive to turbidity and independent of light. The ability to produce high resolution live images in motion from underwater environments enables new approaches to assess freshwater ecological questions which were so far challenging to assess with optical or classical sampling methods.

DIDSON data processing (Video and echogram)

The following section gives a short description of the general data processing and analysis that was basic for all 3 chapters comprising the present dissertation. Further analyses and data processing is described in detail in the respective chapters.

A great advantage beside the video like sonar sequences is the possibility to generate echograms from DIDSON data. This can be realized with DIDSON topside software and third party software. Echograms are the standard presentation form for sonar data. They are characterized by a plot of received echo intensities over the range as a function of time. In the present study Sonar 5 Professional (Balk & Lindem, 2010) was used to convert DIDSON data into maximum intensity echograms. Maximum intensity echograms plot the intensity maximum of all beams. This kind of echogram is characterized by a sharp and detailed display of the data. Echograms have the advantage to show a larger period of recorded sonar data at a glance and are therefore suitable to screen data for fish echoes. Fish traces can be located in the echograms and real-time video analysis can be minimized by skipping data containing no targets. Fig. 4 shows a maximum intensity echogram containing fish traces together with the corresponding video data. Fish can be marked, measured and stored in a database for further data analysis. Depending on the scientific questions, a variety of other measures can be assessed from the sonar data with the Sonar 5 Professional software.



Figure 4. Workspace of Sonar 5 Professional. The upper window in the left shows a maximum intensity echogram together with the corresponding sonar video sequence (right window). The white arrows mark one fish trace in the echogram and the image of the fish in the right.

Results and Discussion

CHAPTER I

Can acoustic shadows identify fish species? A novel application of imaging sonar data

Abstract

This study addresses a fish species discrimination method based on normalised elliptic fourier descriptors applied to acoustic shadows derived by Dual-frequency Identification Sonar (DIDSON). Acoustic shadows of templates (20 cm, 30 cm, 40 cm and 50 cm) and live fish of four species (bream, *Abramis brama* (L.); barbel, *Barbus barbus* (L.); chub, *Leuciscus cephalus* (L.); trout, *Salmo trutta* L.) were projected on a plate in an experimental setup and tested on suitability for species discrimination. Twenty-centimetre templates were correctly classified in 97.5 % of the cases, indicating a size threshold. The larger templates reached values of 100 % correct classification based on cross-validated discriminant function analysis. It was also possible to classify moving fish based on screenshots of their acoustic shadows with a certainty of 83.9 %. Extended field tests are required to evaluate the method for use in practical monitoring applications in multi-species river environments.

Introduction

One of the most challenging hydroacoustic issues is remote fish species identification. The majority of related research has been carried out in the marine environment (Scalabrin et al., 1996; Simmonds et al., 1996; LeFeuvre et al., 2000; Hannachi et al., 2004; Korneliussen et al., 2009; Charef et al., 2010; Robotham et al., 2010). Horne (2000) reviewed the diversity of acoustic approaches in species identification concluding that definitive identification of aquatic animals currently is not possible by exclusive use of sound. Rogers et al. (2004) addressed the acoustic identification of freshwater fish species in Lake Huron and Lake Michigan. Although neural networking was able to deliver promising classification results from monotypic fish aggregation data, it did not perform satisfactorily for *in situ* fish applications. Successful detection and identification of Chinese sturgeons in the Yangtze River was realised using a set of descriptors provided by data from a split-beam hydroacoustic system (Tao et al., 2009). However, compared with the efforts spent on marine fish species identification, freshwater applications, especially aimed at acoustic single fish identification, still remain a poorly investigated field.

There are many studies addressing non-intrusive monitoring methods. Fishery biologists are often faced with turbid conditions in combination with deep water, where many methods are supposed to be limited or not applicable. Video-based species recognition can be successful under certain conditions (Cattoen et al., 1999; Lee et al., 2004; Zion et al., 2007), but 15 m is the maximum range that can be achieved with optical systems in clear water with appropriate lightning. Unfortunately, conditions in aquatic environments are often affected by high turbidity that can decrease the visibility to a fraction of a metre (Belcher et al., 2001). While visual identification and counting is a common fish estimation method in flat and clear waters (Locke, 1997, Holmes et al., 2006), hydroacoustic (Maxwell & Gove, 2007) and infra-red light based (Baumgardner et al., 2010) methods have also been investigated. However, tools and related methods that can be used for species discrimination under turbid conditions are needed.

DIDSON (Dual frequency IDentification SONar, www.soundmetrics.com) delivers near video-like, high quality live images almost independent of water turbidity and light (Belcher et al., 2001). Although it was originally developed for technical inspection and military purposes for underwater observation and target identification, application in fisheries and aquatic research has increased since the launching of the system (Tiffan et al., 2004; Holmes et al., 2006; Maxwell & Gove, 2007; Frias-Torres & Luo, 2009; Han et al., 2009; Han & Uye, 2009).

Although the DIDSON delivers high quality images, general subjective fish species identification is arguable and depends on the presence of remarkable morphological features or striking echo signals. Eel exhibits special body architecture in combination with special swimming behavior (Gray, 1933; Webb, 1982) leading to recognisable patterns in the videos as well as in echograms. Mueller et al. (2008) presented a computer-driven process that classified DIDSON images of eel and debris with high accuracy.

Objects in the DIDSON beam array reflect and absorb a part of the emitted sound and, as a result, they cast acoustic shadows. These shadows are strongly related to the objects outer shape and thus should be investigated for use as a parameter for species identification. The aim of this study was to test whether it is possible to discriminate between fish species based on their specific acoustic shadows in a computer-driven process. Species identification based on DIDSON generated acoustic shadows would be a gain in data acquisition in hydroacoustic fish monitoring surveys. This study covers an experimental approach based on a four-species set of templates and an experiment involving live fish corresponding to the chosen species.

Methods

DIDSON serves as a tool to generate the acoustic shadows. It delivers video-like, high quality live images and allows *in-situ* control under challenging conditions where optical systems are limited. DIDSON features two operational frequencies. A low detection frequency (1.1 MHz) suitable for ranges up to 30 m and a high frequency identification mode (1.8 MHz) that serves ranges up to 15 m (www.soundmetrics.com). The horizontal field of view provides an opening angle of 29° consisting of 48 single beams with a width of 0.6° each at the lower frequency or 96 beams with a width of 0.3° at the higher frequency. The beam array provides a vertical opening angle of 14°. Based on this beam geometry, a cross-range resolution of 1 cm and a down-range resolution of 0.24 cm can be achieved for an object in 2-m range with a window length adjustment of 1.25 m in the high frequency mode. The down-range resolution is restricted to 512 pixels over a chosen window length.

Hence the resolution is supposed to be better when covering short distances (window length adjustment) in a preferably near distance.

Experimental setup

Two types of experiments were conducted to assess the quality of acoustic shadows to be suitable for fish species discrimination. A basic set of four morphological distinct species that can be found together in various German rivers was chosen to assess differences in acoustic shadows: bream, *Abramis brama* (L.), barbel, *Barbus barbus* (L.), chub, *Leuciscus cephalus* (L.) and trout, *Salmo trutta* L. or rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum) respectively. The two setups can be separated into an experimental setup (Fig. 1) involving 1-mm stainless steel, laser-cut templates with typical shapes of the four species (Fig. 2 a) and a mesocosm experiment in which acoustic shadows of living fish were projected on a plate with respect to the four chosen species (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. The DIDSON was installed parallel to the bottom and aimed at the 45° projection plate. Templates were positioned in the center of the beam array. Fish were able to cross the beam array in the same manner.



Figure 2. (a) Stainless steel templates of the four species (b) Acoustic shadows of 50-cm stainless steel templates (trout, chub, bream, barbel (top down)) (c) Acoustic shadows of living fish (trout, chub, bream, barbel (top down)) (d) Image processing with SHAPE Ver. 1.3 (Iwata & Ukai, 2002).

The experiments were carried out in tanks equipped with a wooden projection plate that was installed at an angle of 45° relative to the horizontal plane. This adjustment provided unbiased shadows. Deviation away from the 45° angle naturally lead to either vertically compressed or extended shapes because of the beam geometry and the translation of acoustic wave rays into a two-dimensional image. The DIDSON was mounted on a remote controlled pan and tilt unit aimed parallel to the bottom (Pan/Tilt: 0°/0°). Four sizes of templates (20, 30, 40 and 50 cm) per species were placed in the centre beam of the array between the DIDSON and the projection plate (Fig. 1). The distance between the emitter and the projection plate was 2 m

(measured to the bottom touching side of the plate). All templates were exposed to the same range.

Fish were stocked into the tank for the live fish experiment. Each species was recorded separately. Fish differed in size between 30 and 49 cm. A projection plate distance of 2 m was maintained to serve as an applicable range for future field tests, e.g. in front of a fish path. Data were recorded in high frequency mode (1.8 MHz) and with a window length adjustment of 1.25 m to obtain the highest possible resolution. The window start was set to 2.08 m. For live fish this value was set to 1.25 m to get distance information of the free swimming fish.

Shape analysis: template experiments

A total of 16 templates corresponding to the four species and the four different sizes were used. Data with echoes and shadows from each of the 16 templates were recorded for about 60 s using the DIDSON data acquisition software (V5.21.01) (Sound Metrics Corp.). DIDSON raw files were imported into Sonar5-Pro hydroacoustic data post-processing software (Balk & Lindem, 2010) and 20 sample frames were then chosen randomly from each of these 16 recoded files by capturing the screen in the paused videos. Images were saved in full-color, 24-bit bitmap format in MS Paint.

Image binarisation, Elliptic Fourier Analysis (EFA) and a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) were conducted using SHAPE analysis software (SHAPE Ver. 1.3, Iwata & Ukai, 2002; Fig. 2), and further statistical analysis was conducted in MS Excel and SPSS 18. The bitmap images of the shadows were opened in ChainCoder, which is part of the SHAPE software package. The sector of interest (Fig. 2) was cut out in the first step to discard undesired shades leading to artifacts during the subsequent edge detection. The red color channel of the 8-bit RGB (red, green, blue) image was chosen. In the next step, the image was converted into a black and white image (binarisation). The binarisation threshold was applied automatically. ChainCoder features cleaning algorithms (erosion and dilution filtering) that were used to remove noise. Finally, edge detection was applied to find the shadow contours. The closed contour was labeled and saved as chain code (Freeman 1974) in plain text format. EFA, a method to approximate closed, two-dimensional contours of arbitrary shapes (Iwata & Ukai, 2002), was conducted with CHC2NEF, which is also part of the SHAPE software. The output contour file containing the chain-codes of the shadows was opened and the first 20 harmonics elected. The chain-code was then converted into Normalised Elliptic Fourier Descriptors (NEFDs), normalised with respect to size, rotation and starting point (Kuhl & Giardina, 1982). NEFDs were stored in a text file.

Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was used to focus the explanatory power into a few features because the NEFDs are numerous and thus difficult to use directly for classification. SHAPE offers the possibility to conduct a PCA by feeding the program PrinComp with the CHC2NEF-output files containing the NEDFs. PCA was applied and the output stored in text format.

To verify the output from the EFA, the variation explained by the principal components was visualised by drawing the principal component contours with the program PrinPrint (included in SHAPE 1.3).

In a next step, the PCA output was imported into MS Excel and prepared in spreadsheets. The PC scores, which represented the different features that have been recognised by the PCA to serve best as discriminant variables (between 4 to 6 significantly contributing PC scores with respect to the 4 template sets), were used in a cross-validated Discriminant Function Analysis (DFA) in SPSS 18 to classify the four species. A leave-one-out cross-validation was applied, where each case was classified by the functions derived from all cases other than that case.

The DIDSON images were relatively inhomogeneous respecting the unequal power allocation in the beam array. The highest backscatter was received from the middle of the projection plate because the bigger part of the power is emitted in the centre beam. This resulted in a DIDSON image with a bright central area, fading out to the borders of the beam. A maximum contrast between the object of interest (foreground) and the background was required to achieve best results because SHAPE uses binarisation to find an object's silhouette.

Shape analysis: live fish mesocosm experiments

Statistics were performed with 459 shadows (95 barbel, 120 bream, 125 chub and 119 trout). Shadows differed in size in relation to the position of the fish in the beam array. The image processing, Fourier analysis and PCA were conducted in SHAPE 1.3, in the same way as with the template data. Fish swimming more distant to the DIDSON unit produced smaller shadows than those swimming very near, analogous to objects in a beam of a torch light. Fish distances between 1.5 m and 2 m were included in the analysis. The bigger part of distances measured around 1.75 m. Thus, normalization played a larger role in this case as it equalized shadow sizes. This issue also plays an important role in the field. Based on the PC scores, a crossvalidated DFA was performed in SPSS 18 to classify the shadows according to the correct species. Therefore the dataset was randomly mixed and split up into two subsample datasets. The first dataset served as a training dataset to calculate the discriminant functions. The second dataset, which was excluded to the discriminant model calculation and thus was unknown, was applied as a validation dataset to the discriminant functions derived from the first dataset to validate the classification power. Prior to the DFA, the extracted feature variables (PC scores) were tested on normal distribution by applying Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests in SPSS 18. Because not all 12 variables exhibited normal distribution according to the tests, the error of deviation from a normal distribution was calculated in MS Excel and considered as negligible. DFA is considered to be relatively robust against infraction as long as the number of cases is high (McGarigal et al., 2000; McCune et al., 2002).

Results

Template experiments

The stainless steel templates proved to be well suited to project the fish silhouettes on to the projection plate. The quality of the shadows depended on template size. The 20-cm shapes were hard to distinguish by the human eye because of blurred contours. Only the deep-bodied bream shadows were identifiable. However, the four species could be identified by statistical analysis. For the remaining template sizes (30 cm, 40 cm, 50 cm), species-specific features of the shadows were more obvious (Fig. 2b) and revealed statistically significant differences between the species. PCA revealed between 4 and 6 principal components that significantly explained the largest amount of difference in the 4 sizes of templates. In all cases the first two principal components cumulatively explained between 81.1 % and 86.5 % of the variance between the 4 species. The cumulative values ranged between 91.6 % and 95.2 % for all significant contributing PC scores (Table 1). PCA separated the shape data into four distinct clusters.

A cross-validated discriminant function analysis was fed with the principal component scores of each size set of the four species. In all cases separation of the four data clusters was observed. The clusters of barbel and trout were less distant for the 20, 30 and 40-cm templates. The results for the 50-cm templates showed a greater similarity for the chub and barbel shadows. The cluster of the bream-related shadows separated far away from the other species clusters in all cases (Fig. 3). The discriminant function analysis showed a correct classification rate of 100 % for all sizes of templates, except the 20-cm set that reach a value of 97.5 % (Table 2).

Principal		Proportion	Cumulative	
component	Eigenvalue	(%)	(%)	> 1/77
20-cm template				
Prin1	2.56E-02	69.0	69.0	*
Prin2	4.49E-03	12.1	81.1	*
Prin3	1.37E-03	3.7	84.8	*
Prin4	9.81E-04	2.6	87.4	*
Prin5	9.03E-04	2.4	89.9	*
Prin6	6.46E-04	1.7	91.6	*
30-cm template				
Prin1	1.41E-02	69.1	69.1	*
Prin2	3.56E-03	17.3	86.5	*
Prin3	8.34E-04	4.1	90.1	*
Prin4	3.90E-04	1.9	92.5	*
Prin5	3.32E-04	1.6	94.1	*
40-cm template				
Prin1	1.47E-02	74.3	74.3	*
Prin2	1.95E-03	9.8	84.2	*
Prin3	1.59E-03	8.0	92.2	*
Prin4	4.18E-04	2.1	94.3	*
50-cm template				
Prin1	0.0072	60.5	60.5	*
Prin2	0.0026	22.1	82.7	*
Prin3	0.0009	7.8	90.5	*
Prin4	0.0004	3.2	93.7	*
Prin5	0.0002	1.5	95.2	*
Prin6	0.0001	0.9	96.1	

Table 1. Outputs of principal component analysis of various templates

* = significant



⊚ Group Centroids □ 4 Trout △ 3 Chub ◇ 2 Bream □ 1 Barbel

Figure 3. Discriminant function scatterplots corresponding to the four sizes of templates (a) 20-cm templates (b) 30-cm templates (c) 40-cm templates (d) 50-cm templates
Table 2. Classification results of discriminant function analysis of the 20-cm templates. In the cross validation, each case is classified by the functions derived from all cases other than that case. 100.0 % of original grouped cases were classified correctly. 97.5 % of cross-validated grouped cases were correctly classified.

			Predicted Group Membership				
		GROUP	1	2	3	4	Total
Original	Count	1	20	0	0	0	20
		2	0	20	0	0	20
		3	0	0	20	0	20
		4	0	0	0	20	20
	%	1	100	0	0	0	100
		2	0	100	0	0	100
		3	0	0	100	0	100
		4	0	0	0	100	100
Cross-							
validated	Count	1	20	0	0	0	20
		2	0	20	0	0	20
		3	0	0	20	0	20
		4	2	0	0	18	20
	%	1	100	0	0	0	100
		2	0	100	0	0	100
		3	0	0	100	0	100
		4	10	0	0	90	100

Live fish mesocosm experiments

Despite the relatively close borders inside the mesocosm, the DIDSON delivered good quality images with the chosen setup. In accordance with the given power allocation of the beam array, the image of the projection plate was brightest in the centre and faded to the borders. Thus, the processing of the projected shadows was affected in the matter of a higher artifact rate during binarisation when silhouettes crossed a wide range of the brightness gradient. However, the shapes of the four species could intuitively be identified by the observer. Subjective species recognition was easier when watching the videos than the screenshots. Trout exhibited compact silhouettes, and fins were rarely observable in the acoustic shadows. Only a V-shaped tail fin shadow was visible (Fig. 2 c). Chub silhouettes were also relatively compact but differed from trout because of visible dorsal, anal and ventral fins. The tail fin appeared larger and possessed a deeper V-shape (Fig. 2 c). Bream produced

striking silhouettes. Dorsal, anal, and ventral fins were observable as well as the deep notched tail fin. The high body depth was well projected on the plate and identified as bream in all cases (Fig. 2 c). The barbel shadows also exhibited a special shape. Silhouettes were characterised by a beaked head, a slender streamlined body, and visible dorsal, tail, anal and ventral fins (Fig. 2 c).

PCA revealed 12 principal components significantly contributing to the separation of the four species. The first three principal components explained 24.6, 16.8 and 11.3 % of the variance. Cumulatively, all significant PC scores contributed 85.3 % (Table 3). Each principal component is related to a characteristic variation in the shape. Fig. 5 visualizes the morphological variation corresponding to the first three PC scores.

Principal		Proportion	Cumulative	
Component	Eigenvalue	(%)	(%)	> 1/77
Prin1	5.36E-03	24.6	24.6	*
Prin2	3.67E-03	16.8	41.4	*
Prin3	2.46E-03	11.3	52.7	*
Prin4	1.65E-03	7.6	60.3	*
Prin5	1.26E-03	5.8	66.1	*
Prin6	8.95E-04	4.1	70.2	*
Prin7	8.50E-04	3.9	74.1	*
Prin8	8.06E-04	3.7	77.8	*
Prin9	5.50E-04	2.5	80.3	*
Prin10	4.66E-04	2.1	82.4	*
Prin11	3.30E-04	1.5	84.0	*
Prin12	2.93E-04	1.3	85.3	*
Prin13	2.80E-04	1.3	86.6	

Table 3. Outputs of Principal Component Analysis for live fish

* = significant

Similar to the results of the template experiments, the bream cluster separated furthest from the remaining three clusters. The clusters of barbel, trout and chub were partially overlapping. A subsequently applied cross-validated discriminant function analysis achieved a much better separation (Fig. 4). The crucial features obtained from the PCA (PC scores) served as the dataset. Bream and barbel clusters

claimed distinct regions in the plot with less overlapping. Trout and chub clusters partly shared the same room. However, the cluster formed by the chub data was comparably compact (Fig. 4). The cross-validated discriminant function analysis classified 83.9 % of the shadows to the correct species based on the unknown data set (Table 4 and Fig. 4).

Table 4. Classification results of discriminant function analysis for live fish. 91.3% of selected original grouped cases were correctly classified; 83.9% of unselected original grouped cases (validation dataset) correctly classified

			Predicted Group Membership				
		GROUP	1	2	3	4	Total
Cases Selected	Count	1	45	0	5	3	53
(Training dataset)		2	0	59	0	0	59
		3	0	0	49	9	58
		4	1	0	2	56	59
	%	1	84.9	0	9.4	5.7	100
		2	0	100	0	0	100
		3	0	0	84.5	15.5	100
		4	1.7	0	3.4	94.9	100
Cases Not							
Selected	Count	1	32	0	6	4	42
(Validation dataset)		2	3	55	3	0	61
		3	0	0	58	9	67
		4	1	0	11	48	60
	%	1	76.2	0	14.3	9.5	100
		2	4.9	90.2	4.9	0	100
		3	0	0	86.6	13.4	100
		4	1.7	0	18.3	80	100



Canonical Discriminant Functions



Figure 4. Discriminant function scatterplot of living fish data showing the clusters of the four different species.

Discussion

The results suggest the quality of acoustic template and fish shadows are appropriate for fish species discrimination. Template shadows were classified correctly in almost all cases. The classification rate was only 97.5 % in the 20-cm templates, (Table 2) indicating a size threshold, thus, templates smaller than 20 cm are supposed to produce inferior classification results. Template shadows appeared to be accurate replications of the stainless steel models. Fins were projected correctly for the larger templates (30 cm, 40 cm, 50 cm), but a loss in detail was observed with declining template sizes. Differences in fin exposure influenced

projected shadows of the live fish. Stagnophilic species like bream exposed a larger part of their fins than rheophilic fish like trout, which exhibited the most compact shadows. Presence or absence of fins appeared to be a characteristic feature. Body depth is another feature because of the highest separation of bream in both experiments. However, the mesocosm experiments demonstrated that it is possible to classify moving fish based on screenshots of their acoustic shadows.

Despite the heterogeneous brightness reflected by the projection plate and fish angle related bias, data quality was good enough to reach a correct classification rate of 83.9 % for the unknown validation data set (Table 4). The type of morphological variation remains uncertain because the PCA is based on chain code derived NEF descriptors rather than on manually measured shape descriptors. However, the morphological meaning of the variation could be evaluated by analysing the reconstructed shapes corresponding to each PC score (SHAPE: PrinPrint software). Although this analysis has a subjective component, PC1 seemed to be associated with body depth of the live fish. Variation in dorsal and ventral body shape was explained by PC2 and tail fin variations appeared to be related to PC3 (Fig. 5). This interpretation explained the striking separation of bream shadows because of the high body depth, visible dorsal and ventral fins and the deep notched tail fin (Fig. 2 c).



Figure 5. Shape variations corresponding to the PC scores.

Fourier methods serve as a powerful tool in a wide field of disciplines to discriminate and classify objects (Wallace & Wintz, 1980), species of plants and animals or other biological structures (e.g. Iwata et al., 2002; Hiraoka & Kuramoto, 2004; Truong et al., 2005) based on their outer shape. Hence, the linkage of high resolution sonar images with the SHAPE software or other elliptic Fourier methods is an important step into semi-automated processes of individual fish species identification. Promising results in classification of DIDSON images were made earlier by applying neural network-based image processing methods to acoustic shadows of different underwater objects. (Kim et al., 2008). Compared with classical fisheries methods, e.g. fyke netting or electric fishing, acoustic methods are a non-invasive way of monitoring fish. This is a reason why research and application of sonar based observations in fisheries is important and gaining increasing attention. DIDSON has proved to be a powerful tool for accurate fish counting and sizing applications (Maxwell & Gove, 2007; Burwen et al., 2010). However, among counting and sizing, the setup used in this study is appropriate to acquire additional important data, e.g. species identification.

The drawback of missing 3D information in DIDSON data can be compensated by using acoustic shadows to calculate depth of migrating fish (Balk & Lindem, 2010: Sonar5-Pro: Help files). Hence, in further research an *in-situ* field test (e.g. in front of a fish pass or at other comparable bottlenecks) is necessary. Assessing the number and length of species accepting a fish pass or migration bypass is necessary to evaluate their functionality. However, in a practical monitoring application new challenges and problems will arise. For example because for the given sonar resolution, the discrimination method is limited to larger fish; in this study the smallest templates measured was 20 cm. Manual, individual discrimination of this size was not feasible. The computer-driven process was, however, still able to distinguish the four species at 97.5 % accuracy for the templates. The classification rate for live fish of this size is expected to be less exact because of the declining potential of fin detection in the shadows with the current sonar resolution. Furthermore, the higher number of different species and the possibility of merged shadows in the case of schooling fish have to be considered in a natural environment. Compared with the selectivity of different classical fisheries sampling methods, limits can be expected even for the approach presented in this study.

A low frequency application of the setup was supposed to be less successful and thus has not been conducted. However, because of the unexpected high classification rate of the 20-cm templates a test with large species at far ranges could be challenging. To improve and enhance the species classification ability, it would be useful to create a database with DIDSON acoustic fish shadows of different species. A combination of other classification features (e. g. size and swimming behavior) extracted from DIDSON data is an additional alternative. Variation in tailbeat frequency is another potential discriminant feature (Mueller et al., 2010).

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the professional support of the LANUV (Landesamt für Natur- Umwelt- und Verbraucherschutz, Albaum) and the fishery department of the Ruhrverband during the experiments. The study was financed by the Fisheries Associations North-Rhine Westphalia, and Westphalia and Lippe e.V., Münster.

CHAPTER II

Spawning behaviour of Allis shad *Alosa alosa* in the Garonne River - new insights based on imaging sonar data

Abstract

Spawning behaviour of *Alosa alosa* was observed by high resolution imaging sonar. Detected clouds of sexual products and micro bubbles served as a potential indicator of spawning activity. Peak spawning time was between 0130 h and 0200 h at night. Increasing detections over three consecutive nights were consistent with sounds of mating events ("bulls") assessed in hearing surveys in parallel to the hydro acoustic detection. In 70 % of the analysed mating events there were no additional *A. alosa* joining the event whilst 70 % of the mating events showed one or two *A. alosa* leaving the cloud. However, in 31 % of the analysed mating are not restricted to a pair. Imaging sonar is suitable for monitoring spawning activity and behaviour of anadromous clupeids in their spawning habitats.

Introduction

Allis shad *Alosa alosa* (L. 1758) is an anadromous clupeid species with an original distribution range from Iceland to Morocco, covering the western European coasts (Aprahamian et al., 2003). Like most European migratory fish species, formerly abundant, *A. alosa* populations suffered under increasing commercial fishing pressure, water pollution, habitat degradation and construction of dams (Limburg & Waldman, 2009). In the middle of the 20th century populations experienced dramatic declines (De Groot, 2002). As a protected species, *A. Alosa* is listed in appendices of the European community directive on the conservation of natural habitats and wild fauna and flora and the Bern Convention. In the last decade, remaining populations especially in the Gironde system have declined seriously and are now characterized as vulnerable (Rougier et al., 2012).

A reintroduction program (EU-Life) according to the guidelines of the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) was established in 2007 to resettle *A. alosa* in the Rhine system (LIFE 06 NAT/D//000005). Individuals from the Gironde-System served as the basis for breeding *A. alosa* larvae for a restocking program (Klinger, 2011). Although *A. alosa* is the focus of recent research, detailed knowledge of individual spawning behaviour is still lacking.

Monitoring *A. alosa* spawning activity and behaviour is challenging. Counting of mating events (bulls) by hearing surveys has become a common method to determine spawning activity and estimate population developments over the years (Cassou-Leins & Cassou-Leins, 1981; Boisneau et al., 1990; Acolas et al., 2006; Caut et al., 2006; S. Gracia & I. Caut, unpublished data). First assessments with direct hearing of mating related sounds were made by Cassou-Leins & Cassou-Leins (1981) while the first automatic system was used by J.F. Trouilhet (unpublished data). Scientists acoustically record the environment close to known spawning grounds or count the loud sounds generated by each mating *in-situ*. This method delivers a measurement index for spawning activity. However, the method lacks information concerning the individual behaviour of *A. alosa* and the number of individuals involved in a mating event.

Gaining detailed information about spawning behaviour in the water column at night is complicated. Optical cameras depend on sufficient ambient light and have a relatively limited range under water. Telemetric methods, however, can deliver further information about individual fish distribution in space and time. Acolas et al. (2004) revealed information about how often male and female A. alosa participated in mating events and their residency times on a spawning ground using acoustic tracking. For their study period, observed females and males were estimated to be involved individually in 0-2 and up to 60 mating events, respectively. A maximum number of 16 participations in one night was measured for a male individual. However, it remains difficult to assess how A. alosa interact with each other and how many individuals are involved in one mating event. Cassou-Leins et al. (2000) described how A. alosa ascend close to the surface to spawn. Alosa alosa then exhibit a specific swimming behaviour by rapidly moving in circles keeping their flanks close to each other in order to release sperm and eggs into the water column. To gain a more detailed picture about A. alosa behaviour under the surface, hydro acoustic observations were conducted at a known spawning site in the Garonne River (France). A Dual-Frequency-Identification-Sonar (DIDSON - Soundmetrics Corp. [http://www.soundmetrics.com]) served for data acquisition. It is independent of light and insensitive to turbidity by delivering video like sequences (Belcher et al., 2001) with monitoring ranges up to 30 m. Imaging sonar technology has been used successfully in a variety of studies to analyse fish behaviour (Tiffan et al., 2010; Rakowitz et al., 2012; Juza et al., 2013; Price et al., 2013; Becker & Suthers, 2014; O'Connell et al., 2014). In the present study the imaging sonar was tested for its suitability to monitor A. alosa spawning by means of detection and quantification of mating events.

Material and Methods

Data sampling

The study was conducted in the Garonne River (Golfech) in France close to a known *A. alosa* spawning site. The area was situated approximately 1 km downstream of a hydro power plant [Canal de Golfech; latitude: 44° 06′ 45.61″ N; 0° 50′ 32.26″ E,, altitude: 54 m]. In this section the width of the canalised river measured approximately 80 m.

Parallel to the hydro acoustic observations, nocturnal hearing surveys were carried out over the reproduction period of *A. alosa* in order to estimate spawner stocks (Carry & Tauzin, 2011). The species specific sounds generated by each couple when circling at the surface during the mating event were manually heard and counted.

Sound data were used to compare with the results delivered by the sonar. Water temperature and discharge were measured at the power plant.

The hydro acoustic study was conducted between 31 May 2010 – 3 June 2010. Dualfrequency-identification-sonar (http://www.soundmetrics.com) features high resolution acoustic images, flexibility in frequency and range settings and the capability to analyse raw data with third party post processing software (Langkau et al., 2012). The field of view was characterized by a horizontal opening angle of 29° and a vertical opening angle of 14°. At the high frequency (1.8 MHz) the array was formed by 96 single beams with a width of 0.3° and at low frequency (1.1 MHz) by 48 beams with a width of 0.6° respectively.

The sonar was fixed on a pan-and-tilt unit and installed on a stable steel shore mount for a number of hours during the 3 nights. The mounting featured a walking bridge to overcome the macrophyte belt adjacent to the shore line. The sonar was mounted in a distance of approximately 3 m from the shore at a depth of 1.5 m. Tilt was adjusted to cover the water volume close to the surface to include the important proportions of the water column where *A. alosa* spawning was expected to occur. The slope of the shore allowed the tilt to be set close a horizontal alignment ($0^{\circ} \pm 5^{\circ}$) without recording bright static bottom echoes. Thus, no background subtraction algorithm had to be applied. Although the DIDSON was placed at a spawning site, mating activity peaked at different ranges and areas around the mounting. The study was focussed on both the spawning activity and related behaviour of *A. alosa*. Therefore the pan was adjusted *in-situ* in order to increase amount of data for a numerical analysis of individuals participating in mating events.

Recordings were carried out between approximately 2230 h to 0230 h. Although the majority of the recordings were made in a window length of 20 m and a window start of 5 m in low frequency mode (1.1 MHz at 7 frames s⁻¹) some data were collected in high frequency mode (1.8 MHz at 6 frames s⁻¹) with window length of 10 m and a window start of 5 m. Further observations were made in a maximum range setting with a window length of 40 m and a window start of 5 m in low frequency mode at a frame rate of 4 frames s⁻¹.

Data analysis

Hearing data were cumulated by adding up the nightly numbers of estimated mating events and percentage was calculated. The DIDSON raw data were converted into maximum intensity echograms in the post processing software Sonar 5 Professional (Balk & Lindem, 2010). An echogram is a chart, plotting received sonar data over time. Typically the x-axis shows the time or the pings and the y-axis the covered range of the sonar system (Fig. 1 (a)). DIDSON videos typically show underwater live images in a bird view perspective when the sonar is mounted horizontally. Echograms were screened for mating related events, as they were visible in both echograms and video data. The authors discriminated between three phenomena: mating events "bulls", clouds originated by "bulls" and mating attempts. The phrase "bulls" originates from the Garonne River and is related to the Occitan language (Cassou-Leins et al., 2000). It has been established among French scientists and describes a typical A. alosa mating with circling individuals. It was used here as a definition for a successful mating ending up with a cloud of sexual products visible in the sonar. Drifting clouds were defined as an observation related to a successful mating that has happened upstream the active field of view. Mating attempts described a behaviour of two A. alosa circling for a short time and parting without generating a cloud. Fig. 2 gives an overview of the basic phenomena in a schematic drawing. All detected events from the three categories were tracked in Sonar 5 Professional and stored with a time stamp.

Spawning activity and peak time were assessed by analysing the number of observations with respect to the defined categories. Data were divided into half hour time samples and pooled from the 3 nights. Metric measurements of the clouds were made with the polyline ruler tool in Sonar 5 Pro from a subset of mating events (n=91) where the end of the mating was visible in the beam. Diameter and perimeter (contour length) of the clouds were measured at the moment when the *A. alosa* were leaving the cloud by drawing a line through and a contour line around the clouds, respectively.



Figure 1. (a) Echogram of spawning *Alosa alosa*. The two arrows mark the typical zig-zag traces of the circling *A. alosa* and the corresponding cloud originating from the event (window length 20 m / window start 5 m / low frequency mode) The white rectangle shows the zoom image of the trace. (b) Corresponding video screenshot showing three clouds and individuals next to the upper and lower cloud.

A numerical analysis was carried out with n=59 videos taken from the subset. The criteria for this selection was a complete mating event in the continuous frame sequence or video. Data were analysed on the number of *A. alosa* initiating the mating event, the number of *A. alosa* joining each mating after the start and the number of individuals leaving the cloud. Therefore the mating event was separated into three steps: Step one: Start - *A. alosa* initiate the *mating event.*, step two: Main phase: *A. alosa* spawn (with potentially joining individuals) and step 3: End: All *A. alosa* leave the mating event (Fig. 2 (a)). The maximum number of joining *A. alosa* and the maximum number of *A. alosa* involved in one mating event was derived. However, individuals entering or leaving the beam in the vertical direction were likely to remain undetected due to the smaller opening angle (14°) and lacking information of position in this domain.



Figure 2. Schematic drawing of documented spawning phenomena. (a) Typical mating event performed by one male and one female. Individuals swim in a circle close to each other, release their sexual products in a growing cloud and leave. (b) Drifting cloud originated in a successful spawning (c) 'Mating attempt': Two *A. alosa* swim in a circle for a short time and part without generating a cloud.

Results

Based on the cumulative data of counted mating events at the spawning site (sound data), the DIDSON-study was carried out in the middle of the reproductive phase, at a progression level of approximately 50 % (Fig. 3). The mean water temperature during the hydro acoustic assessments was 17.5 \pm 0.4 °C, while mean \pm S.D. discharge was 371 \pm 27 m³ s⁻¹.





The first mating events were detected after 2300 h. Pairs of *A. alosa* circled around each other rapidly for several seconds while releasing their sexual products into the water. Growing clouds of semen and eggs originating from the mating pairs could be visualized and were evaluated as successful spawning events (Fig. 1 (a,b)) and [supplementary video]. Mating events and clouds were detectable on all tested window length adjustments. Although short range settings delivered a higher resolution and hence revealed more details, it was still possible to observe individuals and mating clouds with a window length adjustment of 40 m and a window start of 5 m in low frequency mode (Fig. 4). This allowed the coverage of a larger area. Mating events were characterized by unique echo patterns in DIDSON maximum intensity echograms. Depending on the aspect angle the circling *A. alosa* produced 'zig-zag' traces resulting in a cloud. A pan adjustment perpendicular to the current produced the most striking patterns (Fig. 1 (a)).



Figure 4. (a) Echogram with 40 m window length. White arrows mark a mating cloud and a single *A. alosa.* b) Screenshot from DIDSON video with 40 m window length. Video screenshot corresponding to Fig. 2 (a). (c) – (e) Sequence of video screenshots of a mating at 40 m window length and 5 m window start adjustments at low frequency. (c) Two *A. alosa* starting to circle. (d) Growing cloud. (e) The arrows mark the drifting cloud and two individuals leaving. There are two more individuals which were not involved.

A total number of 171 mating events, 374 mating clouds and 47 mating attempts were detected during three consecutive night time observations. The spawning activity peaked between 0130 h and 0200 h (Fig. 5). The highest number of mating events (62) and clouds (120) and a low number of mating attempts (2) was observed during this period (Fig. 5). The count of mating attempts was comparatively low and reached its maximum (14) between 0100 h and 0130 h (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. Number of observations (3 nights pooled) on mating events (■), attempts (□) and clouds (■) in relation to the time of day (30 min recording periods) recorded between the 31 May and 03 June 2010 (*Period not recorded on 01.06.2010-02.06.2010 ** Period not recorded on 31.05.2010-01.06.2010).

During the 3 nights of hydro acoustic assessment the spawning activity increased, measured by the number of counted mating events and clouds in the sonar videos. This was consistent with the rise in activity depicted by the mating sounds, although the highest number of mating events was measured in the second night. (Fig. 6).



→ Mating events → Attempts ··· ·· Clouds → Sounds

Figure 6. Trend of spawning activity based on sound assessments, and activity indices derived by hydro acoustic observation.

Although the majority of mating events were performed by one pair each (approximately 70 %), the numeric analysis revealed that there were more than two *A. alosa* involved in a mating event in some cases (Fig. 7 (a)). Almost 70 % of the matings showed one or two *A. alosa* leaving the mating event. However, a noticeable number of mating events were detected with three or even up to five *A. alosa* joining (approx. 31 %) (Fig. 7 (a)) and three or up to seven *A. alosa* leaving (approx. 31 %) one mating cloud (Fig. 7 (b)). Hence, the maximum number of *A. alosa* involved in one mating event was seven. The mean cloud diameter, measured when the *A. alosa* left the event, was 202 ± 61 cm and the mean perimeter was 956 ± 301 cm (*n*=91).



Figure 7. (a) Number of observed *A. alosa* joining a started mating event based on high quality subset of matings (sonar data) (n=59). (b) Number of observed *A. alosa* leaving a mating event based on high quality subset of matings (sonar data) (n=59).

Discussion

The present study shows the potential of imaging sonar techniques to monitor *A. alosa* spawning activities. With respect to declining populations this is an important point given the urgency of quantifying the extent of returning spawner stocks, spawning success and the need to increase knowledge of spawning behaviour.

During the 3 nights of observation an increasing trend in the spawning activity was seen with both, the sound based index and the hydro acoustic indices. Although the number of mating events recognized in the sonar data was lower due to the smaller area covered, the system was capable of displaying the increasing tendency. The peak spawning time observed between 0130 h and 0200 h fits into the time windows reported in the literature (Cassou-Leins & Cassou-Leins, 1981; Boisneau et al., 1990; D. Fatin & J. Dartiguelongue, (unpublished data) cited in Aprahamian et al., 2003). During the observation period a number of mating attempts was documented. This phenomenon might be explained as part of mating habits by means of a partner check.

In contrast to the sound based spawning activity assessment, the hydro acoustic method revealed additional information about the interaction of individuals involved in one mating event. Although there are indications that there are more than two A. alosa involved in a mating event (Boisneau et al., 1990), usually one male and one female are supposed to perform the mating event (Cassou-Leins et al., 2000). F. Cassou-Leins & J.J. Cassou-Leins, unpublished data) assumed that there was only one female involved in one mating event and that each female was only spawning once a night. López et al. (2011) described the participation of several individuals for Alosa fallax (Lacepède 1803) assessed by direct visual observation. Boisneau et al. (1990) observed participation of a second couple of A. alosa in one mating event in 21.1 % of cases. In only 0.7 %, three or more couples were involved. Furthermore, 78.2 % of the mating events were performed by one couple only. Based on the analysed hydro acoustic data collected in the Garonne River in the present study, the majority of mating events occurred with just a pair of A. alosa involved. In a proportion of the pairings (approx. 31 %), however, a higher number of participators was observed. The analysis revealed even and odd numbers of joining A. alosa. The missing positional information in the vertical domain of the beam might have contributed to this phenomenon, but the video analysis did not give reason to assume that the joining *A. alosa* were always pairs. The results presented here support the findings of Boisneau et al. (1990), however, they also give indications that mating events with more than two individuals might not be restricted only to a higher number of couples.

Clupeids are described as group spawners (Mank & Avise, 2006). Alternative reproductive tactics are common (Gross, 1984; Oliveira et al., 2001; Oliveira et al., 2008), and a variety of alternative tactics are known for fishes (Taborsky, 1994). With regards to present knowledge and the results of this study it would be an interesting question to see if the percentage of joining *A. alosa* reflects just a group spawning habit or if this phenomenon could also be related to the existence of parasitic males ('sneakers'). Including the results presented here, there are still only few publications providing quantitative information on the number of participating *A. alosa* and the way individuals interact during the spawn. This is true especially with large rivers and underlines the importance of this study.

In the late evenings, A. alosa seemed to recognize and respond to the sound source of the sonar. However, for some reason this was not always the case. Pairs and small groups of A. alosa seemed to avoid swimming very close to the emitter by changing their direction away from the DIDSON and crossing the acoustic field further away. Gregory et al. (2007) observed a similar behaviour for A. fallax under certain conditions in the River Wye. Wilson et al. (2008) proposed that the response threshold of A. alosa may reflect a trade-off between energy expenditure for escapement and other activities. This is in agreement with the observation that the A. alosa mostly showed avoidance reactions before the peak spawning time but did not seem to be affected during the mating itself. There are numerous studies giving evidence for responses of alosines to certain ultrasound frequencies. Gregory & Clabburn (2003) revealed a sensitivity of A. fallax at a frequency of 200 kHz but showed that A. alosa remained unaffected at the high frequency of 420 kHz. Higgs et al. (2004) showed an enhanced sensitivity of American shad Alosa sapidissima (Wilson 1811) to a frequency of 90 kHz, which is also in agreement with the findings of Plachta & Popper (2003) and Wilson et al. (2008). However, the main DIDSON operating frequencies at 1.1 and 1.8 MHz are far from the frequency ranges shown to be most crucial for behavioural responses. Nevertheless, further research in the field of sensitivity of alosines to DIDSON emitted frequencies is needed.

Although the method has been shown to be capable of monitoring *A. alosa* spawning activity by using the number of mating events as a direct and the number of clouds as an indirect index, it possesses also some limitations. Compared to the sound assessments the sonar covers a smaller operational range. A permanent fixed installation of the system, without *in-situ* adjustment, appears difficult, especially in large rivers with respect to the high areal fluctuations of spawners around a spawning ground. Further investigations on the longevity and detectability limits of clouds in the river flow are necessary. Under the prevailing conditions the clouds were detectable and persistent over the range of the sonar when followed with the pan-and-tilt unit, indicating a good basis for quantification under adequate signal to noise conditions. Nevertheless, the method is a powerful tool to reveal detailed information about the individual behaviour of anadromous clupeids at the final stage of their migratory journey, even by using comparably simple methods of quantification as has been shown in this study.

In conclusion, the study highlights the monitoring capabilities, but especially the potential of high resolution imaging sonars to assess *A. alosa* spawning behaviour under the challenging conditions prevailing at their spawning grounds at night.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank P. Beeck, who initiated the cooperation with MI.GA.DO. to conduct the study in the Garonne River. The authors want to thank MI.GA.DO. and the EU Life+ Project for financial and staff support during this study which was part of the project AZ.: 2.6-2009-010, funded by the fisheries fee North Rhine-Westphalia. The comments of two anonymous reviewers as well as Maxim Teichert corrections of the English text helped to improve the manuscript substantially.

CHAPTER III

Sonar based diel and seasonal fish activity in front of a hydro power plant and chances for flexible fish protection.

Abstract

The assessment and prediction of fish activity and abundance is challenging due to complex multifactorial causal relationships associated with fish migration. The present study demonstrates the potential of horizontally fixed imaging sonars to gain knowledge in the field of spatial ecology of fish with high temporal resolution. An hourly fish abundance raster over the span of a year was chosen as a measure of fish activity to intuitively illustrate alternating diel and seasonal activity patterns at a glance. Three groups were analysed, 'fish' (N = 47604), 'eels' (N = 767) and 'shoals' (N = 526). Diel fish activity altered from an even activity over the 24 hours in spring and early summer to a distinct nocturnal activity in late summer and autumn. Eels showed strict nocturnal activity by exhibiting low abundances in spring and summer and increasing numbers in autumn. Peak migration was measured in December. Fish shoals exhibited a distinct diurnal activity. Shoals were rare in the first half of the year but frequent in autumn, showing a peak in November. As the sonar was mounted in front of the trash rack of a run-of-the-river hydro power plant, activity data of the potential risk group, able to pass through the bar interspaces, was faced the power production data to identify time windows of higher and lower risk of entrainment and respective fish protection requirements. The study underlines the urgent need to use modern fish monitoring tools to expedite flexible fish protective management by meeting ecological and economical demands.

Introduction

On a large scale the distribution of fish in space and time is influenced by their species specific life-cycle and the framing biotic and abiotic conditions. Different lifehistory-stages are often constrained with habitat shifts (Brönmark et al., 2014, Larinier & Travade, 2002). These shifts can comprise short- or large-scale migrations. While diadromous fish show the largest distances travelled, as some species e.g. catadromous American eel Anguilla rostrata (Lesueur, 1817) and European eel Anguilla Anguilla (Linnaeus, 1758) migrate up to several thousand kilometers, comprising fresh and saltwater habitats (Aarestrup et al., 2009; McCleave et al., 1987; Righton et al., 2016), potamodromous species move significant distances in the river (Benitez et al., 2015; Benitez & Ovidio, 2017; Lucas & Baras, 2001; Rakowitz et al., 2008). These life cycle dependent movements comprise annual, seasonal or daily cycles to find spawning or feeding grounds, to disperse or shelter (Brönmark et al., 2014; Larinier & Travade, 2002). Life stage based migration in many cases results in a more or less complete presence or absence of a certain age-class in certain parts of the waterbody or system (e.g. salmon smolts leaving the freshwater system). Biotic and abiotic conditions, like predation pressure, availability of food organisms or light and river discharge, affect fish activity, abundance and spatial distribution on a smaller local scale within the current live stage related habitat. Young-of-the-year (YOY) European perch *Perca fluviatilis* (Linnaeus, 1758) perform an ontogenetic habitat shift from the pelagic zone into the littoral zone when shifting diet from zooplankton to benthos (Persson & Greenberg, 1990). The influence of biotic and abiotic factors (feeding opportunities, light intensity and predation risk) on the distribution of YOY burbot Lota lota (Linnaeus, 1758) was demonstrated in Lake Constance when larvae were present in the pelagic zone from May until August, undertaking diel vertical migrations by ascending to the surface after sunset and descending back into the hypolimnion after sunrise (Probst & Eckmann, 2009).

Knowledge of the spatial ecology of fish is the key for successful management actions and can on the other hand be a source of error when misunderstood (Cooke et al., 2016). The assessment and prediction of fish activity and abundance is challenging because of the complex multifactorial causal relationships and limited, depending on the applied method (Cooke et al., 2016). A variety of modern assessment tools like telemetry, population genetics, hydroacoustics, otolith microchemistry and stable isotope analysis exists for the study of spatial ecology but are often not considered and integrated in management plans and actions (Cooke et al., 2016).

While the upstream migration of fish is well examined (Lucas & Baras, 2001) and standard rules for the construction of fish ways have been derived (DWA, 2014), the downstream migration of fish and how to guide them still needs more research (Larinier & Travade, 2002). Most of the studies concerning downstream migration of fish in front of hydro power plants have been carried out on long distance migratory fish species. Knowledge about migration and activity patterns of riverine potamodromous species is comparably lagging behind (Brönmark et al., 2014; Northcote, 1997). Hydro acoustic methods deliver fish abundance data in a high temporal resolution and are therefore a good tool to gather long-term data. Especially, horizontal-fixed applications are suitable to study diel fish behavior and movement (Lucas & Baras, 2001). Kubecka & Duncan (1998) analysed the diurnal fish behavior and movement between the littoral and the mid-river with horizontal fixed hydro acoustic methods in the River Thames and revealed a higher nocturnal fish biomass in the shallow littoral zone. In the last decade the monitoring of fish movements by means of the horizontal application of modern imaging sonars gained increasing attention (Han & Asada, 2007; MacNamara & McCarthy, 2014; Magowan et al., 2012; Maxwell & Gove, 2007; Pipal et al., 2010). However, long-term studies are still rare.

Today most European rivers are impacted by man-made changes. Fish have to cope with longitudinal and horizontally disconnected rivers, water pollution, massive habitat losses due to bank reinforcements for shipping and the consequences of overfishing (Limburg & Waldman, 2009). A major factor affecting the migration of fishes in rivers, are dams and hydro power plants, disconnecting the river longitudinally. Hence, these constructions have influence on the distribution and abundance of fish, as they can delay or completely prevent fish migration (Drouineau et al., 2017; DWA, 2005; Larinier & Travade, 2002; Nyqvist et al., 2017a; Nyqvist et al., 2017b). However, delay of migration caused by HPPs can depend on site specific constructions and individual fish behavior (Økland et al., 2017). Especially equipped with hydro power plants, dams are a potential source of mortality (Dadswell & Rulifson, 1994; DWA, 2005; Nyquist et al., 2017b; Larinier & Travade, 2002; Martins

et al., 2014). Modern fish protection systems have potential to prevent turbine mortality and to facilitate downstream migration (Økland et al., 2017).

Depending on the bar interspacing trash racks can prevent certain size classes of fish from entering the turbine (DWA, 2005). Others will be able to pass through the gaps of the screen (Larinier & Travade, 2002). The size-class of fish which is able to pass through the screen represents a potential risk-group with a certain mortality rate typical for the site specific turbine (DWA, 2005; Larinier & Travade, 2002). The present study was aimed on revealing general fish activity patterns by assessing high resolution diel and seasonal fish abundance data in front of a hydro power plant with a multi beam imaging sonar (DIDSON) installed upstream the trash rack for several months within one year. Activity was analysed for fish, eels and fish schools. Data of the size class '< 25 cm', as potentially able to pass the screen and endangered for being entrained into the turbine, was faced to the power production data of the turbine in order to demonstrate the importance and chances to connect knowledge of fish abundance with management actions, meeting ecologic and economic needs.

Material & Methods

Data sampling

The study was conducted in a tributary river of the Rhine River in Germany with a mean discharge of 44.1 m³ s⁻¹. A Dual-Frequency Identification Sonar (DIDSON) was installed upstream of a hydro power plant (HPP) in a distance of approximately 5 m to the trash rack. The bar interspace of the screen measured 20 mm. The facility was equipped with a fish way and eel bypass openings located under the trash rack, which ended up in one pipe facilitating one potential way of eel downstream migration.

The sonar delivers video-like high quality images even under turbid and dark conditions. The field of view was characterized by an opening angle of 29° in the horizontal and 14° in vertical domain and was established by an array of 96 single beams (0.3°) in identification mode at 1.8 MHz or 48 single beams (0.6°) in detection mode at 1.1 MHz. The high frequency delivered a higher resolution. The sonar was installed horizontally (tilt=0°) on a steel mounting in the middle of the water column in a depth of approx. 2.5 m. The sonar was operated in high frequency mode at 1.8

MHz. The width of the small turbine inlet canal was covered by the sonar with a standard range setting of 5 m and a window start setting of 1.25 m. The frame rate was between 8 to 10 frames/s.

The study was conducted in 2012 in a time window between April and December. Due to technical problems of the HPP, there were recurrent periods with no power production and hence no current in the turbine inlet canal. The water was spilled over the weir. No data was recorded and used from these times. The DIDSON was first deployed on 4th of April and demounted on 14th of December. The Sonar had to be maintained continuously once a week or every two weeks to clean out sediment freights inside the lens compartment and to avoid biofilm growth. A repair of the sonar led to a delayed redeployment on June the 11th after the first repair of the HPP.

Data analysis

DIDSON raw data were converted into maximum intensity echograms and further processed in Sonar 5 Professional (Balk & Lindem, 2010). Echograms plot the received echo intensities over the range against the time. While the corresponding sonar videos show a bird view perspective in a horizontal mounting position of the sonar and need to be processed in real-time, echograms show a larger time period of recorded data at a glance. This enabled a faster screening for fish traces in the dataset. The whole dataset was screened for fish contacts and each was then length measured and classified into one of three categories. Fish contact, eel contact or fish shoal contact. Species identification in DIDSON videos is limited and depending on the sonar setup (Langkau et al., 2012). One exception is the identification of eels, which is intuitive due to their special shape and anguilliform swimming behavior. Fish aggregations were counted as shoals when they were dense with a typical shoal shape and the number of individuals was too high to count and to distinguish from each other. Each contact entering the field of view was counted. It could not be excluded that individuals leaving the sonar beam and reentering the field of view later again were counted again. All contacts were stored in the internal database in Sonar 5 Professional called the 'fishbasket' and exported into Excel (Microsoft) for further processing.

Some hours with massive fish abundance on October the 15th and November the 16th were analysed in subsamples. Fish contacts of three minutes out of half an hour

were counted and number of fish per minute was calculated and extrapolated on 30 minutes. During the peak fish measured between 6-10 cm.

Data for seasonal activity and power generation of the HPP were prepared in Excel (Microsoft) and charts were finally processed and generated in Surfer 14 (Golden Software).

Abiotic complementary data

Fig. 1 gives an overview of the annual river discharge and water temperature. Data was measured approx. 16 km upstream of the study site at the next monitoring station (Source: LANUV).



Figure 1. Annual water temperature and river discharge.

Results

Fish activity

Due to recurrent outage of the HPP there were large data gaps over the year. Despite this circumstance trends in a changing fish activity were visible over the seasons. Fig. 2 shows the diel and seasonal activity of fish, eels and fish shoals in front of the HPP screen.



Figure 2. Diel and seasonal activity of fish, eels and fish shoals in front of a HPP screen as measured contacts per hour. Each grayscale bin represents one hour of the year. Color scales for number of fish, eel and shoal contacts are logarithmic. Black color in the right matrix 'data' represents analysed data, white color data gaps.

A total number of 47604 fish contacts were counted. In the first half of the year, approximately until mid of July, the fish activity showed a rather even distribution over the day. Especially in the dataset in April this phenomenon was present with even high fish activity during the daytime. This trend started to alter by the end of July. A decreasing diurnal and increasing nocturnal fish activity with a higher fish presence around dusk especially from September until November could be observed. The high nocturnal fish abundance reflects the borders between light and dark conditions and illustrates the advancing shortening of the daytime in the second half of the year (Fig. 2). The highest mean daily number of fish contacts could be recognized in November (Fig. 3).

A total number of 767 eel contacts were counted. The number of recognized eels increased continuously over the year (with except of August) and peaked in December though just two days were analysed here (Fig. 2 and 3). A strong nocturnal activity was observed here throughout the year. Especially in October and November the activity was higher in the first half of the nights beginning with dusk (Fig. 2). The December peak coincided with a rise in water temperature and discharge after a minimum in water temperature and a period with low discharge (Fig. 1).

A total number of 526 shoal contacts were counted. In the first half of the year the number of recognized shoal contacts was comparably low (Fig. 2). The mean daily number of contacts started slowly to increase in July and peaked in October (Fig. 3). It is striking that in comparison to the single fish detections the shoals could be observed almost exclusively during the daytime and around the transition times between light and dark (Fig. 2).



Figure 3. Mean daily number of contacts. Calculated from the monthly total number of contacts (per category) divided by the number of days with analysed data. This mean number of contacts per day was then calculated as percentage of total count per category.

Fish < 25 cm and HPP power production

Fig. 4 shows the proportions of fish contacts < 25 cm over the year. This group defines the category of individuals which are potentially able to pass through the screen of the HPP. The percentage of this group was the lowest in April with 23 % and increased over the following month to establish on a level with values over 90% from August until November. The percentage was lower again in December with a value of 38 %.

Fig. 5 shows the number of measured fish contacts < 25 cm per hour in relation to the hourly power production. The highest power production was observed in the first half of the year, showing the highest values in April when the proportion of fish contacts < 25 cm reached the lowest measured value of the year (Fig. 4). The fish activity showed an evenly distributed pattern with no special preference of day time. Power production in June and July was lower compared to April, but still on medium level. The group of fish < 25 cm was more than doubled and apportioned 61 and 69% respectively. The fish activity pattern still showed evenly distributed contacts over the

24 hours until mid of July when the diel activity pattern changed and fish activity tended to shift into the dark phase.

This pattern progressively established within the next month until November and the fish activity pattern reflected the increasing shortening of the daytime. Wether this pattern was still present in December could not be shown due to the lack of data in this month. The power production further decreased after August, with the lowest production in September and then ranged on lower level throughout the rest of the year. The proportion of fish < 25 cm was over 90% from August until November and decreased in December.



Figure 4. Percentage of fish contacts < 25 cm per month.



Figure 5. Diel and seasonal activity of fish < 25 cm and power production of the HHP as number of fish contacts per hour and percentage from annual total power production respectively. Each grayscale bin represents one hour of the year. Color scale for number of fish contacts is logarithmic. Black color in the right matrix 'data' represents analysed data, white color data gaps respective the fish contact data.

Discussion

The present study demonstrates the potential of horizontally fixed imaging sonars to gain knowledge in the field of spatial ecology of fish with high temporal resolution. An hourly fish abundance raster over the span of a year was chosen as a measure of fish activity to intuitively illustrate alternating fish activity patterns at a glance. Despite of larger data gaps, the study revealed diel, as well as seasonal activity patterns of three defined groups 'fish', 'fish shoals' and 'eels'. Fish showed a shift in activity from a more evenly distribution over the 24 hours in spring, to an increased activity in the transition times and the dark phase in the second half of the year (Fig. 2). The mean daily number of fish contacts was higher in fall compared to spring and summer (Fig. 3), while the proportion of fish < 25 cm rose continuously on values over 90 % since April (Fig. 4). December was not representative for 'fish' and 'shoal' because of only two days of data. However, it is of value for the activity of eels as the highest numbers of contacts were measured here (Fig. 3). It is likely that the risen proportions of fish < 25 cm and the higher mean number of fish contacts in fall included a large number of 0+ fish from the recent cyprinid and percid spawning period. It might therefore be possible that the distinct diel activity cycle was mainly dominated by small fish.

Fish shoals were rare in spring and summer, but became numerous in fall when the peak was measured in October (Fig. 2 and 3). The observed distinct diel pattern was contrary to that of single fish and eel, given that shoals were predominantly measured by daytime and in dusk and dawn (Fig. 2). The increased number of fish and proportion of smaller fish in combination with the frequent formation of shoals in fall could reflect a beginning migration to winter habitats and predator prevention tactics respectively. Brönmark et al. (2008) and Skov et al. (2008) found massive migrations of cyprinids, dominated by roach *Rutilus rutilus* (Linnaeus, 1758), from the lake into the streams occurring in fall. The migration was driven by a trade-off between predator avoidance and growth. Although in our study area there were no connected lakes, temporarily and continuously connected floodplain waterbodies and oxbows were present, which are likely to be used as a habitat during the growth phase. Pavlov & Mikheev (2017) suggest intraspecific interactions, such as shoaling, to be promoted by spatial and temporal peaks of migration.

Considering that acoustic species identification is still one of the most challenging hydro acoustic topics (Horne, 2000), limited by specific sonar technique and setups
(Langkau et al., 2012) and up to date still a field that has been identified to have a high demand for further research (Pollom & Rose, 2016), the setup in the present study allowed the identification of eels, due to their specific intuitively recognizable anguilliform body shape and swimming behavior.

Eels showed a distinct diel activity pattern with a preference of the nocturnal hours throughout the year (Fig. 2). The diel activity pattern was similar to the pattern found by Stein et al. (2016), though they also observed seasonal activity in spring. During this study mean daily numbers were low in spring and summer, but increased in fall with a migration peak in December (Fig. 3). This reflects the starting autumnal downstream migration of silver eels and is in accordance with autumn migratory windows observed in other studies (Haro, 2003; Lowe, 1952; Sandlund et al., 2017; Stein et al., 2016). It is important to mention that only two days of data were existent in December. However they reflect the highest measured daily mean numbers of eel contacts within the study, suggesting that data were likely to be acquired during a main eel migration peak. The December maximum coincided with a rise in water temperature and discharge after a minimum in water temperature and a period with low discharge (Fig. 1). Many environmental factors, such as water discharge, water temperature, photoperiod, turbidity, light intensity, moon phase, atmospheric pressure or precipitation are discussed in the literature to potentially influence eel migration behavior in terms of timing, intensity or speed. Hence, the regulation of silver eel migration is complex. Different studies identified several of these factors to significantly influence eel migration. While increased water discharge played a role in various studies (Barry et al., 2015; Lowe, 1952; Vøllestad et al., 1986; Vøllestad et al., 1994; Feunteun et al., 2000), the other environmental factors were shown to have influence under certain conditions in different locations as well (Cullen & McCarthy, 2003; Stein et al., 2016; Vøllestad et al., 1994). However, the presence of HPPs, takes effect as fish migration obstacles, can cause migration delay (Drouineau et al., 2017; Nyqvist et al., 2017a; Nyqvist et al., 2017b) as well as mortality by turbines (Larinier & Travade, 2002).

As 96 % (n = 101) of the eels during the peak in December were larger than 60 cm (mean length 78 \pm 10 cm) (data not shown) the 20 mm trash rack should have prevented turbine entrainment of this group of individuals, however impingement effects remain unknown. At the study site an existent eel bypass pipe, temporal spill over the weir and a fish path offered three potential migration routes. Økland et al.

67

(2017) found that modern fish protection systems in combination with capable downstream pathways can facilitate silver-eel migration with low mortality.

The group of smaller fish (< 25 cm) that was potentially at risk to pass the trash rack and become endangered by turbine entrainment, showed a very similar diel and seasonal activity pattern like the combined 'fish' group (Fig. 2 and 5). This underlines the dominance of this length class in terms of number and observed behavior.

Seasonal consideration

Comparing the monthly percentage of fish < 25 cm with the seasonal power production of the HPP at a glance (Fig. 4 and 5), the power production in spring and summer was high, but the proportion of fish < 25 cm was lower (especially with the lowest values in April) compared to the late summer and fall. The lower proportions of this group may be due to the absence of young-of-the-year fish by three potential causes. First, especially valid for April, the spawning season was not yet finished and therefore only few 0+ fish of early spawning species present. Second, regarding June and July, when proportions already increased, larger numbers of fish inhabited growth habitats e.g. oxbows and connected floodplain waterbodies. Third, very small 0+ individuals (fish larvae) were present, but not detectable with the sonar under the prevailing acoustic conditions. Based on these data, regarding the monthly low mean numbers of fish (Fig. 3) and the low proportion of the risk group (Fig. 4), spring and early summer appeared to represent a time period with a lower entrainment risk (Fig. 5). However, the large data gaps due to technical problems with the HPP and the sonar between April and June lack valuable further information.

The power production in August was still higher than in the subsequent month and although the mean daily number of fish was low, the proportion of the risk group was already high (Fig. 3, 4 and 5), indicating an unfavorable combination.

In September the mean daily number of fish increased continuously and peaked in November (Fig. 3). In the same period the proportions of the risk group ranged between 95-98 % (Fig. 4) indicating the highest probabilities to potentially pass the thrash rack. However, the power production in fall was lower than in spring time (Fig. 5). On a seasonal scale, the necessity of fish protective management actions at the site was highest in fall.

Diel consideration

The diel patterns of the risk group showed a more even activity throughout the 24 hours in spring. By the mid of July this behavior altered and a progressive establishment of nocturnal activity could be observed (Fig. 5) indicating a higher entrainment risk in the dark phase. This was especially true in October and November, when the highest number of fish were present in combination with risk group proportions of over 90% in front of the trash rack due to a potential migration peak (Fig. 3). On a diel perspective the necessity of fish protective management actions changed within the year. While during times of even diel fish activity in spring and early summer, no preferred time windows for management actions could be identified, the nocturnal fish activity in fall implied the need for fish protections by night.

Conclusions and perspectives

The present study demonstrated the potential of high resolution imaging sonars to gain knowledge in the field of the spatial ecology of fish by monitoring abundance as a measure of activity. The high image resolution allowed the identification of eels and fish shoals, which could be used to reveal diel and seasonal migration behavior. It was shown that DIDSON has the potential to be applied as a long-term fish monitoring tool, though labour for manual analysis remained immense. The ability to measure fish length allowed the analysis of a certain size class, potentially at risk of entrainment, and to derive diel and seasonal critical time windows. In contrast to classical assessment methods like gill nets or electro fishing, which deliver temporal snapshots, imaging sonars are non-invasive and provide data with high temporal resolution. Because species discrimination is still limited, the combination with other assessment methods is an option, depending on the task.

Against the background of climate change and the increased promotion of renewable energy sources, the power generation by HPPs is topical. Under consideration of ecologic and economic needs it is urgent to identify time periods which are favorable for fish protective actions by minimizing power losses. The annual activity charts give a good basis to derive rough time windows, but a precise flexible management should be based on a model fed with fish activity and power production data derived by long-term studies over several years. However such a model would still be based on migration patterns of the past and did not consider to its extents the complexity of fish migration processes. A real-time analysis of fish abundance is necessary and could be implemented to allow in-situ management actions. Recent studies on the sonar based automation of fish counting and sizing (Han et al., 2009) and the semi-automated identification of eels (Mueller et al., 2008) have been conducted. Further research in this field is necessary to reduce the financial and temporal bottleneck of manual analysis labour and to expedite the development of real-time sonar systems capable to facilitate additional flexible fish protective management actions.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully thank J. Heerman, M. Salzmann and J. Lackemann for their assistance with manual data analysis and -handling. Used data were part of the research and development project ('EtWas') financed by the District Council Düsseldorf and RWE Innogy GmbH. Technical and scientific steering was taken by LANUV (Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt, und Verbraucherschutz, Nordrheinwestfalen), MKULNV (Ministerium für Klimaschutz, Umwelt, Landwirtschaft, Natur- und Verbraucherschutz, Nordrheinwestfalen) and the District Council of Cologne.

Conclusions

In the first chapter, we could demonstrate that DIDSON can be used to discriminate fish species with high correct classification rates by extracting specific descriptors from sonar derived template- and live fish shadows, as they are strongly related to the outer shapes. Although, still delivering high correct classification, template experiments indicated detail losses with declining fish lengths at a size threshold of 20 cm. Against the background that acoustic species identification is one of the most challenging hydro acoustic topics (Horne, 2000) and up to date still a field that has been identified to have a high demand for further research (Pollom & Rose, 2016), Chapter I contributes an important part of research in this field by suggesting to consider novel sonar setups in future monitoring concepts e.g. at fish ways or other kind of suitable bottlenecks. However it has to be considered that applications in the field are constrained with potentially unfavourable acoustic conditions, multi species environments and challenges arising by merged shadows of schooling fish. Hence, further research is needed to develop capable image processing algorithms, intelligent discrimination methods and automation processes allowing in-situ processing of sonar data.

In Chapter II we could show the capabilities of imaging sonars to observe fish behavior under challenging conditions and to assess spawning activity of endangered Allis shad (*Alosa alosa*) even on long ranges. Spawning related clouds of sexual products and micro bubbles could be detected with the sonar and be used as a measure of spawning activity, as they were consistent with sounds of mating events (bulls) assessed parallel in hearing surveys. New behavioural aspects could be revealed by observing that matings were not restricted to one pair of spawners only, which was a common opinion in the literature (Cassou-Leins et al., 2000; Cassou-Leins & Cassou-Leins, 1981). The recent further declines in the local populations of the Garonne River, with dramatically reduced spawning activities (verbal information of EU-Life project manager) already impeding the assessment of important knowledge, underline the importance of this study.

Chapter III highlights the potential of imaging sonars to serve as long-term monitoring tools to assess diel and seasonal activity patterns of fish with high temporal resolution and to point out chances for improved fish protection in front of hydro power plants. Distinct alternating patterns for three groups ('fish', 'eels' and 'shoals') could be revealed by intuitively illustrating hourly fish abundance over the span of one year at a glance. Knowledge of the spatial ecology of fish is the key for successful management actions and can on the other hand be a source of error when misunderstood (Cooke et al., 2016). Hence, the study underlines the importance of assessing and integrating fish activity data into modern flexible fish protection systems. Data of small fish, being at risk of entrainment, was faced power production data to derive time windows with high or low risk and constrained fish protective requirements. As a future research task, a model, based on long-term data over several years, should be calculated to improve predictions of entrainment risk. However, as already mentioned in Chapter I, the development of automated fish counting and measuring algorithms is needed to allow the initiation of flexible management actions meeting ecological and economical demands.

The three chapters demonstrate potential and limitations of high resolution imaging sonars in applied freshwater ecology. DIDSON was shown to facilitate new opportunities for the analysis of challenging tasks in the fields of fish species identification, fish behavior and fish activity monitoring in a non-invasive manner.

References

- Aarestrup, K., Økland, F., Hansen, M. M., Righton, D., Gargan, P., Castonguay, M., Bernatchez, L., Howey, P., Sparholt, H., Pedersen, M. I. & McKinley, R. S. (2009). Oceanic Spawning Migration of the European Eel (*Anguilla anguilla*). Science **325**, 1660.
- Acolas, M. L., Bégout Anras, M. L., Véron, V., Jourdan, H., Sabatié, M. R. & Baglinière, J. L. (2004). An assessment of the upstream migration and reproductive behaviour of allis shad (*Alosa alosa* L.) using acoustic tracking. *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* 61, 1291-1304.
- Acolas, M. L., Véron, V., Jourdan, H., Bégout, M. L., Sabatié, M. R. & Baglinière, J. L. (2006).
 Upstream migration and reproductive patterns of a population of allis shad in a small river (L'Aulne, Brittany, France). *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* 63, 476-484.
- Adam, B., Bosse, R., Dumont, U., Göhl, C., Görlach, J., Heimerl, S., Kalusa, B., Krüger, F., Redeker, M., Schwevers, U., Sellheim, P. & Schrenk, G. (2014). *Merkblatt DWA-M 509 Fischaufstiegsanlagen und fischpassierbare Bauwerke – Gestaltung, Bemessung, Qualitätssicherung.* Hennef: DWA Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaft, Abwasser und Abfall e. V.
- Adam, B., Bosse, R., Dumont, U., Haddering, R., Joergensen, L., Kalusa, B., Lehmann, G., Pischl, R.
 & Schwevers, U. (2005). Fish Protection Technologies and Downstream Fishways -Dimensioning, Design, Effectiveness Inspection. Hennef: DWA Deutsche Vereinigung für Wasserwirtschaft, Abwasser und Abfall e. V.
- Aprahamian, M. W., Aprahamian, C. D., Baglinière, J. L., Sabatié, R. & Alexandrino, P. (2003). Alosa Alosa and Alosa fallax spp. Literature Review and Bibliography. R&D Technical Report W1-014/TR, Almondsbury Bristol. Available at https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/290354/sw1-014-tr-e-e.pdf (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Balk, H. & Lindem, T. (2010) Sonar4 and Sonar5 Post Processing Systems, Operator Manual Version 6.0.3. Available at http://folk.uio.no/hbalk/sonar4_5/Downloads.htm (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Barry, J., Newton, M., Dodd, J. A., Lucas, M. C., Boylan, P. & Adams, C. E. (2016). Freshwater and coastal migration patterns in the silver-stage eel *Anguilla anguilla*. *Journal of Fish Biology* **88**, 676-689.
- Baumgartner, L., Bettanin, M., McPherson, J., Jones, M., Zampatt, i B. & Beyer, K. (2010) Assessment of an infrared fish counter (Vaki Riverwatcher) to quantify fish migrations in the Murray-Darling Basin. Industry & Investment NSW – Fisheries Final Report Series No. 116, 47 pp.
- Becker, A., & Suthers, I. M. (2014). Predator driven diel variation in abundance and behaviour of fish in deep and shallow habitats of an estuary. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* **144**, 82-88.
- Becker, A., Whitfield, A. K., Cowley, P. D., Järnegren, J. & Næsje, T. F. (2013). Does boat traffic cause displacement of fish in estuaries? *Marine Pollution Bulletin* **75**, 168-173.
- Belcher, E.O., Matsuyama, B. & Trimble, R. (2001) Object identification with acoustic lenses. In: Conference Proceedings MTS/IEEE Oceans. 5-8 November 2001. Honolulu, Hawaii. Vol. 1, pp. 6-11.
- Benitez, J. P. & Ovidio, M. I. (2017). The influence of environmental factors on the upstream movements of rheophilic cyprinids according to their position in a river basin. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* n/a.

- Benitez, J. P., Nzau Matondo, B., Dierckx, A. & Ovidio, M. I. (2015). An overview of potamodromous fish upstream movements in medium-sized rivers, by means of fish passes monitoring. *Aquatic Ecology* **49**, 481-497.
- Boisneau, P., Mennesson-Boisneau, C. & Baglinière, J. L. (1990). Description d'une frayère et comportement de reproduction de la grande Alose (*Alosa alosa* L.) dans le cours supérieur de la Loire. *Bulletin français de la pêche et de la pisciculture* **316**, 15-23.
- Borcherding, J., Breukelaar, A. W., Winter, H. V. & K+Ânig, U. (2014). Spawning migration and larval drift of anadromous North Sea houting (Coregonus oxyrinchus) in the River IJssel, the Netherlands. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **23**, 161-170.
- Brönmark, C., Hulthén, K., Nilsson, P. A., Skov, C., Hansson, L. A., Brodersen, J. & Chapman, B. B. (2014). There and back again: migration in freshwater fishes. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 92, 467-479.
- Brönmark, C., Skov, C., Brodersen, J., Nilsson, P. A. & Hansson, L. A. (2008). Seasonal Migration Determined by a Trade-Off between Predator Avoidance and Growth. *PLOS ONE* **3**, e1957.
- Burwen, D. L., Fleischman, S. J. & Miller, J. D. (2010). Accuracy and Precision of Salmon Length Estimates Taken from DIDSON Sonar Images. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **139**, 1306-1314.
- Carry, L. & Tauzin, M. (2011). Suivi de la reproduction de la grande aloes sur la Garonne en 2010. MI.GA.DO. 6G-RT-11, 19p. Available at http://www.limousin.developpementdurable.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/rapport_2010_aloses_version_def.pdf (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Cassou-Leins, F. & Cassou-Leins, J. J. (1981). Recherches sur la biologie et l'halieutique des migrateurs de la Garonne et principalement de l'alose: *Alosa alosa* L. Thèse doctorat de troisième cycle, Institut National Polytechnique de Toulouse, 382 p Available at http://archipel.univtoulouse.fr/ipac20/ipac.jsp?menu=search&index=.GK&term=PPN0424315 22 (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Cassou-Leins, J. J., Cassou-Leins, F., Boisneau, P. & Baglinière, J. L. (2000). La reproduction. In *Les aloses (Alosa alosa et Alosa fallax spp.): Ecobiologie et variabilité des populations* (Baglinère & Elie eds), Paris: Institute Nationale de la Recherche Agronomique (INRA).
- Cattoen, M., Larinier, M. & Thomas, N. (1999) System and related software for monitoring fish passes. Bulletin Francais de la Pêche et de la Pisciculture **353/354**, 263-277.
- Caut, I., Molas, D., Bareille, M., Brasier, W., Noel, Y., Lascaux, J. M. & Chanseau, M. (2006). Suivi de la reproduction de la grande alose (*Alosa alosa*, L.) et de la lamproie marine (*Petromyzon marinus* L.) sur la Dordogne en aval du barrage de Mauzac. Estimation des stocks reproducteurs 2006. MI.GA.DO. 21D-06-RT, 49p. Available at http://www.limousin.developpementdurable.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/alose_lamproie_Dordogne_2006_AALAD_ALMPD_06_.pdf (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- CEN (2014). Water quality Guidance on the estimation of fish abundance with mobile hydroacoustic methods (Ref. No. EN 15910:2014 E)
- Charef, A., Ohshimo, S., Aoki, I. & Al Absi, N. (2010) Classification of fish schools based on evaluation of acoustic descriptor characteristics. *Fisheries Science* **76**, 1-11.
- Chu, D. (2011). Technology Evolution And Advances In Fisheries Acoustics. *Journal of Marine Science and Technology* **19**, 245-252.
- Convention on the Conservation of European wildlife and natural habitats. Bern 19.IX. 1979, ETS No. 104. Available at https://rm.coe.int/CoERMPublicCommonSearchServices/DisplayDCTMContent?documentId =0900001680304356 (last accessed 26 January 2016)

- Cooke, S. J., Martins, E. G., Struthers, D. P., Gutowsky, L. F. G., Power, M., Doka, S. E., Dettmers, J. M., Crook, D. A., Lucas, M. C., Holbrook, C. M. & Krueger, C. C. (2016). A moving target incorporating knowledge of the spatial ecology of fish into the assessment and management of freshwater fish populations. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 188, 239.
- Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Fauna and Flora, *OJ L* 206, 22/07/1992 Available at http://www.central2013.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Downloads/Document_Centre/OP_Resour ces/HABITAT_DIRECTIVE_92-43-EEC.pdf (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Crossman, J. A., Martel, G., Johnson, P. N. & Bray, K. (2011). The use of Dual-frequency IDentification SONar (DIDSON) to document white sturgeon activity in the Columbia River, Canada. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* **27**, 53-57.
- Cullen, P. & McCarthy, T. K. (2003). Hydrometric and Meteorological Factors Affecting the Seaward Migration of Silver eels (*Anguilla anguilla, L.*) in the Lower River Shannon. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 67, 349-357.
- Dadswell, M. J. & Rulifson, R. A. (1994). Macrotidal estuaries: a region of collision between migratory marine animals and tidal power development. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **51**, 93-113.
- De Groot, S. J. (2002). A review of the past and present status of anadromous fish species in the Netherlands: is restocking the Rhine feasible? In *Ecological Restoration of Aquatic and Semi-Aquatic Ecosystems in the Netherlands (NW Europe)* (Nienhuis, P. H.& Gulati, R. D. eds), pp. 205-218 Springer Netherlands.
- Drouineau, H., Bau, F., Alric, A., Deligne, N., Gomes, P. & Sagnes, P. (2017). Silver eel downstream migration in fragmented rivers: use of a Bayesian model to track movements triggering and duration. *Aquatic Living Resources* **30**.
- EC (2000). Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2000/60/oj
- Feunteun, E., Acou, A., Laffaille, P. & Legault, A. (2000). European eel (Anguilla anguilla): prediction of spawner escapement from continental population parameters. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 57, 1627-1635.
- Freeman, H. (1974) Computer processing of line drawing images. Computing Surveys 6, 57-97.
- Frias-Torres, S. & Luo, J. (2009) Using dual-frequency sonar to detect juvenile goliath grouper Epinephelus itajara in mangrove habitat. Endangered Species Research **7**, 237-242.
- Gray, J. (1933) Studies in animal locomotion. I. The movement of fish with special reference to the eel. *Journal of Experimental Biology* **10**, 88-104.
- Gregory, J. & Clabburn, P. (2003). Avoidance behaviour of *Alosa fallax fallax* to pulsed ultrasound and its potential as a technique for monitoring clupeid spawning migration in a shallow river. *Aquatic Living Resources* **16**, 313-316.
- Gregory, J., Lewis, M. & Hateley, J. (2007). Are Twaite Shad able to detect sound at a higher frequency than any other fish? Results from a high resolution imaging sonar. *Proceedings of the Institute of Acoustics* 29, Part 3. Available at http://www.proceedings.com/01200.html (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Gross, M. R. (1984). Sunfish, Salmon, and the Evolution of Alternative Reproductive Strategies and Tactics in Fishes. In *Fish Reproduction: Strategies and Tactics* (R.Wootton & G.Potts eds), pp. 55-75 London: Academic Press.

- Han, J., Honda, N., Asada A. & Shibata, K. (2009) Automated acoustic method for counting and sizing farmed fish during transfer using DIDSON. *Fisheries Science* **75**, 1359-1367.
- Han, C. H. & Uye, S. I. (2009). Quantification of the abundance and distribution of the common jellyfish Aurelia aurita s.l. with a Dual-frequency IDentification SONar (DIDSON). *Journal of Plankton Research* **31**, 805-814.
- Han, J. & Asada, A. 2007. Acoustic Counting Method of Upstream Juvenile Ayu *Plecoglossus altivelis* by Using DIDSON. 2007 Symposium on Underwater Technology and Workshop on Scientific Use of Submarine Cables and Related Technologies 459-462.
- Handegard, N. O. & Williams, K. (2008). Automated tracking of fish in trawls using the DIDSON (Dual frequency IDentification SONar). *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **65**, 636-644.
- Hannachi, M.S, Abdallah, L.B. & Marrakchi, O. (2004) Acoustic identification of small-pelagic fish species: target strength analysis and school descriptor classification. *MedSudMed Technical Documents* **5**, 90-99.
- Haro, A. (2003). Downstream Migration of Silver-Phase Anguillid Eels. In *Eel Biology* (Aida, K., Tsukamoto, K.& Yamauchi, K. eds.), pp. 215-222 Tokyo: Springer Japan.
- Hayes, J. W., Hay, J., Maxwell, I. & Quarterman, A. (2015). Estimating Trout Abundance with Cataraft-Mounted Dual-Frequency Identification Sonar: a Comparison with Drift Diving. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **35**, 528-536.
- Higgs, D. M., Plachta, D. T., Rollo, A. K., Singheiser, M., Hastings, M. C. & Popper, A. N. (2004). Development of ultrasound detection in American shad (*Alosa sapidissima*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* **207**, 155-163.
- Hightower, J. E., Magowan, K. J., Brown, L. M. & Fox, D. A. (2012). Reliability of Fish Size Estimates Obtained From Multibeam Imaging Sonar. *Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management* **4**, 86-96.
- Hiraoka, Y. & Kuramoto, N. (2004) Identification of *Rhus succedanea* L. cultivars using elliptic fourier descriptors based on fruit shape. *Silvae Genetica* **53**, 5-6.
- Holmes, J.A., Cronkite, G.M.W., Enzenhofer, H.J. & Mulligan, T.J. (2006) Accuracy and precision of fish-count data from a "dual-frequency identification sonar" (DIDSON) imaging system. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **63**, 543-555.
- Holmes, J. A., Cronkite, G. M. W., Enzenhofer, H. J. & Mulligan, T. J. (2006). Accuracy and precision of fish-count data from a dual-frequency identification sonar (DIDSON) imaging system. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **63**, 543-555.
- Horne, J.K. (2000) Acoustic approaches to remote species identification: a review. *Fisheries Oceanography* **9**, 356-371.
- Hundt, M., Scharbert, A., Weibel, U., Kuhn, G., Metzner, K., Jatteau, P., Pies, A., Schulz, R. & Gergs, R. (2015). First evidence of natural reproduction of the Allis shad Alosa alosa in the River Rhine following re-introduction measures. *Journal of Fish Biology* 87, 487-493.
- IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2014.3. Available at http://www.iucnredlist.org (Downloaded on **06 April 2015)**.
- Iwata, H. & Ukai, Y. (2002) SHAPE: A computer program package for quantitative evaluation of biological shapes based on elliptic fourier descriptors. *The Journal of Heredity* 93, 384-385.
- Iwata, H., Nesumi, H., Ninomiya, S., Takanao, Y. & Ukai Y. (2002) Diallel analysis of leaf shape variations of citrus varieties based on elliptic fourier descriptors. *Breeding Science* **52**, 89-94.
- Johnson, R. L. & Moursund, R. A. (2000). Evaluation of juvenile salmon behavior at Bonneville Dam, Columbia River, using a multibeam technique. *Aquat.Living Resour.* **13**, 313-318.

- Jůza, T., Rakowitz, G., Draštík, V., Blabolil, P., Herzig, A., Kratochvíl, M., Muška, M., Říha, M., Sajdlová, Z. & Kubečka, J. (2013). Avoidance reactions of fish in the trawl mouth opening in a shallow and turbid lake at night. *Fisheries Research* **147**, 154-160.
- Kim, T.W., Yu, S. & Yuh, J. (2008) Neural network-based underwater image classification for autonomous underwater vehicles. In: M.J. Chung, & P. Misra (eds) *Proceedings of the 17th IFAC World Congress*. Seoul, Korea: The International Federation of Automatic Control, pp. 15991-15995.
- Kimura, K. (1929). On the detection of fish groups by an acoustic method. *Journal of the Imperial Fisheries Institute* **24**, 41-45.
- Klinger, H. (2011). The re-introduction of Allis shad (*Alosa alosa*) in the Rhine System. *LIFE06 NAT/D//000005*: Kirchhundem-Albaum. Available at http://www.lanuv.nrw.de/uploads/tx_commercedownloads/30028e.pdf (last accessed 26 January 2016)
- Korneliussen, R.J., Heggelund, Y, Eliassen, I.K. & Johansen, G.O. (2009) Acoustic species identification of schooling fish. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **66**, 1111-1118.
- Kubecka, J. & Duncan, A. (1998). Diurnal changes of fish behaviour in a lowland river monitored by a dual-beam echosounder. *Fisheries Research* **35**, 55-63.
- Kuhl, F.P. & Giardina, C.R. (1982) Elliptic fourier features of a closed contour. *Computer Graphics And Image Processing* **18**, 236-258.
- Langkau, M. C., Balk, H., Schmidt, M. B. & Borcherding, J. (2012). Can acoustic shadows identify fish species? A novel application of imaging sonar data. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* **19**, 313-322.
- Larinier, M. & Travade, F. (2002). DOWNSTREAM MIGRATION: PROBLEMS AND FACILITIES. Bulletin français de la pêche et de la pisciculture 181-207.
- Lee, D., Schoenberger, R., Shiozawa, D., Xu, X. & Zhan, P. (2004) Contour matching for a fish recognition and migration monitoring system. In: K.G. Harding (ed.) *Proceedings of the SPIE Optics East, Two and Three-Dimensional Vision Systems for Inspection, Control, and Metrology II.* Philadelphia, PA, USA, Vol. 5606, pp. 37-48.
- LeFeuvre, P., Rose, G.A., Gosine, R., Hale, R., Pearson, W. & Khan, R. (2000) Acoustic species identification in the Northwest Atlantic using digital image processing. *Fisheries Research* **47**, 137-147.
- Limburg, K. E. & Waldman, J. R. (2009). Dramatic Declines in North Atlantic Diadromous Fishes. *BioScience* **59**, 955-965.
- Locke, A. (1997) Precision of diving and canoe-based visual estimates of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) abundance. *Fisheries Research* **29**, 283-287.
- López, M. A., Andrée, K. B., Sánchez, R., Queral, J. M., Franch, N., Schneider, P. & Gisbert, E. (2011). First characterization of the spawning habitat and mating behaviour of Twaite shad in the Ebro River (Western Mediterranean). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology* 27, 53-55.
- Lowe, R. H. (1952). The Influence of Light and Other Factors on the Seaward Migration of the Silver Eel (*Anguilla anguilla L.*). *Journal of Animal Ecology* **21**, 275-309.

Lucas, M. & Baras, E. (2001). Migration of Freshwater Fishes. Blackwell Science Ltd.

MacNamara, R. & McCarthy, T. K. (2014). Silver eel (Anguilla anguilla) population dynamics and production in the River Shannon, Ireland. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **23**, 181-192.

- MacNamara, R. & McCarthy, T. K. (2014). Silver eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) population dynamics and production in the River Shannon, Ireland. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **23**, 181-192.
- Magowan, K., Reitsma, J. & Murphy, D. (2012). Use of Dual-Frequency Identification Sonar to Monitor Adult River Herring in a Small Coastal Stream. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries* **4**, 651-659.
- Makabe, R., Kurihara, T. & Uye, S. I. (2012). Spatio-temporal distribution and seasonal population dynamics of the jellyfish Aurelia aurita s.l. studied with Dual-frequency IDentification SONar (DIDSON). *Journal of Plankton Research* **34**, 936-950.
- Mank, J. E. & Avise, J. C. (2006). Comparative phylogenetic analysis of male alternative reproductive tactics in ray-finned fishes. *Evolution* **60**, 1311-1316.
- Martins, E. G., Gutowsky, L. F. G., Harrison, P. M., Flemming, J. E. M., Jonsen, I. D., Zhu, D. Z., Leake, A., Patterson, D. A., Power, M. & Cooke, S. J. (2014). Behavioral attributes of turbine entrainment risk for adult resident fish revealed by acoustic telemetry and state-space modeling. *Animal Biotelemetry* 2, 13.
- Maxwell, S. L. & Gove, N. E. (2007). Assessing a dual-frequency identification sonars' fish-counting accuracy, precision, and turbid river range capability. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* **122**, 3364-3377.
- McCleave, J.D., Kleckner, R. C. & Castonguay, M. 1987. Reproductive sympatry of American and European eels and implications for migration and taxonomy. American Fisheries Society Symposium 1: 286-297.
- McCune, B., Grace, J.B. & Urban, D.L. (2002) *Analysis of ecological communities*. Gleneden Beach, Oregon: MjM Software Design, 304 pp.
- McGarigal, K., Cushman, S. & Stafford, S. (2000) *Multivariate Statistics for Wildlife and Ecology Research.* Berlin: Springer, 283 pp.
- Moursund, R. A., Carlson, T. J. & Peters, R. D. (2003). A fisheries application of a dual-frequency identification sonar acoustic camera. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **60**, 678-683.
- Mueller A., Burwen D.L., Boswell K.M. & Mulligan T. (2010) Tail-beat patterns in dual-frequency identification sonar echograms and their potential use for species identification and bioenergetics studies. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **139**, 900-910.
- Mueller, A. M., Mulligan, T. & Withler, P. K. (2008). Classifying Sonar Images: Can a Computer-Driven Process Identify Eels? *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **28**, 1876-1886.
- Nyqvist, D., Greenberg, L. A., Goerig, E., Calles, O., Bergman, E., Ardren, W. R. & Castro-Santos, T. (2017b). Migratory delay leads to reduced passage success of Atlantic salmon smolts at a hydroelectric dam. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **26**, 707-718.
- Nyqvist, D., McCormick, S. D., Greenberg, L., Ardren, W. R., Bergman, E., Calles, O. & Castro-Santos, T. (2017a). Downstream Migration and Multiple Dam Passage by Atlantic Salmon Smolts. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **37**, 816-828.
- O'Connell, C. P., Hyun, S. Y., Rillahan, C. B. & He, P. (2014). Bull shark (*Carcharhinus leucas*) exclusion properties of the sharksafe barrier and behavioral validation using the ARIS technology. *Global Ecology and Conservation* **2**, 300-314.
- Økland, F., Teichert, M.A.K., Havn, T.B., Thorstad, E.B., Heermann, L., Sæther, S.A., Tambets, M. & Borcherding, J. 2017. Downstream migration of European eel at three German hydropower stations. *NINA Report* **1355**, 53 p.
- Oliveira, R. F., Canario, A. V. & Grober, M. S. (2001). Male sexual polymorphism, alternative reproductive tactics, and androgens in combtooth blennies (pisces: *blenniidae*). *Hormones and Behavior* **40**, 266-275.

- Oliveira, R. F., Taborsky, M. & Brockmann H.J. (2008). *Alternative Reproductive Tactics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pavlov, D. S. & Mikheev, V. N. (2017). Downstream migration and mechanisms of dispersal of young fish in rivers. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **74**, 1312-1323.
- Persson, L. & Greenberg, L. A. (1990). Optimal Foraging and Habitat Shift in Perch (*Perca Fluviatilis*) in a Resource Gradient. *Ecology* **71**, 1699-1713.
- Petreman, I. C., Jones, N. E. & Milne, S. W. (2014). Observer bias and subsampling efficiencies for estimating the number of migrating fish in rivers using Dual-frequency IDentification SONar (DIDSON). *Fisheries Research* **155**, 160-167.
- Pipal, K., Jessop, M., Boughton, D. & Adams, P. (2010). Using Dual-Frequency Identification Sonar (DIDSON) To Estimate Adult Steelhead Escapement In The San Lorenzo River, California. *California Fish and Game* **96**, 90-95.
- Plachta, D. T. T. & Popper, A. N. (2003). Evasive responses of American shad (*Alosa sapidissima*) to ultrasonic stimuli. *Acoustics Research Letters Online* **4**, 25-30.
- Pollom, R. A. & Rose, G. A. (2016). A global review of the spatial, taxonomic, and temporal scope of freshwater fisheries hydroacoustics research. *Environmental Reviews* **24**, 333-347.
- Portier, P. (1924). Sur l'application des ondes ultra-sonores aux recherches d'océanographie biologique. *Comptes Rendus Societé Biologique* 91.
- Price, V. E., Auster, P. J. & Kracker, L. (2013). Use of High-Resolution DIDSON Sonar to Quantify Attributes of Predation at Ecologically Relevant Space and Time Scales. *Marine Technology Society Journal* **47**, 33-46.
- Probst, W. N. & Eckmann, R. (2009). The influence of light on the diel vertical migration of young-ofthe-year burbot *Lota lota* in Lake Constance. *Journal of Fish Biology* **74**, 150-166.
- Rakowitz, G., Berger, B., Kubecka, J. & Keckeis, H. (2008). Functional role of environmental stimuli for the spawning migration in Danube nase *Chondrostoma nasus* (L.). *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **17**, 502-514.
- Rakowitz, G., Berger, B., Schludermann, E., Tritthart, M., Habersack, H. & Keckeis, H. (2014). Deep pools of the Danube River: ecological function or turbulent sink? *Hydrobiologia* **729**, 143-159.
- Rakowitz, G., Tušer, M., Riha, M., Juza, T., Balk, H. & Kubecka, J. (2012). Use of high-frequency imaging sonar (DIDSON) to observe fish behaviour towards a surface trawl. *Fisheries Research* **123-124**, 37-48.
- Rallier du Baty, R. 1927. La pêche sur le banc de Terre-Neuve et autour des îles St-Pierre et Miquelon. 142.
- Rand, P. S. & Fukushima, M. (2014). Estimating the size of the spawning population and evaluating environmental controls on migration for a critically endangered Asian salmonid, Sakhalin taimen. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 2, 214-225.
- Righton, D., Westerberg, H., Feunteun, E., Økland, F., Gargan, P., Amilhat, E., Metcalfe, J., Lobon-Cervia, J., Sjöberg, N., Simon, J., Acou, A., Vedor, M., Walker, A., Trancart, T., Brämick, U. & Aarestrup, K. (2016). Empirical observations of the spawning migration of European eels: The long and dangerous road to the Sargasso Sea. *Science Advances* 2.
- Robotham, H., Bosch, P., Gutiérrez-Estrada, J.C., Castillo, J. & Pulido-Calvo, I. (2010) Acoustic identification of small pelagic fish species in Chile using support vector machines and neural networks. *Fisheries Research* **102**, 115-122.

- Rogers, E.O., Fleischer, G.W., Simpson, P.K. & Denny, G.F. (2004) Broadband fish identification of Laurentian Great Lakes fishes. *IEEE International* **2**, 1430-1434.
- Rougier, T., Lambert, P., Drouineau, H., Girardin, M., Castelnaud, G., Carry, L., Aprahamian, M., Rivot, E. & Rochard, E. (2012). Collapse of allis shad, Alosa alosa, in the Gironde system (southwest France): environmental change, fishing mortality, or Allee effect? *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil* 69, 1802-1811.
- Sandlund, O. T., Diserud, O. H., Poole, R., Bergesen, K., Dillane, M., Rogan, G., Durif, C., Thorstad,
 E. B. & Vøllestad, L. A. r. (2017). Timing and pattern of annual silver eel migration in two
 European watersheds are determined by similar cues. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 5956-5966.
- Scalabrin, C., Diner, N., Weill, A., Hillion, A. & Mouchot, M. (1996) Narrowband acoustic identification of monospecific fish shoals. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **53**, 181-188.
- Scharbert, A. & Borcherding, J. (2013). Relationships of hydrology and life-history strategies on the spatio-temporal habitat utilisation of fish in European temperate river floodplains. *Ecological Indicators* **29**, 348-360.
- Schevill, W. E., Watkins, W. A. & Backus, R. H. (1964). The 20-cycle signals and Balaenoptera (fin whales). *Marine Bio-Acoustics* 52-147.
- Simmonds, E.J., Armstrong, F. & Copland, P.J. (1996) Species identification using wideband backscatter with neural network and discriminant analysis. ICES *Journal of Marine Science* 53, 189-195.
- Simmonds, J. & McLennan, D. N. (2005). Fisheries Acoustics Theory and Practice. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Skov, C., Brodersen, J., Nilsson, P. A., Hansson, L. A. & Brönmark, C. (2008). Inter- and size-specific patterns of fish seasonal migration between a shallow lake and its streams. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **17**, 406-415.
- Stein, F., Doering-Arjes, P., Fladung, E., Brämick, U., Bendall, B. & Schröder, B. (2016). Downstream Migration of the European Eel (*Anguilla Anguilla*) in the Elbe River, Germany: Movement Patterns and the Potential Impact of Environmental Factors. *River Research and Applications* 32, 666-676.
- Taborsky, M. (1994). Sneakers, Satellites, and Helpers: Parasitic and Cooperative Behavior in Fish Reproduction. *Academic Press Konrad Lorenz Institute of Ethology* **23**, 1-100.
- Tao, J.P., Qiao, Y., Tan, X.C. & Chang, J. (2009) Species identification of Chinese sturgeons using acoustic descriptors and ascertaining their spatial distribution in the spawning ground of Gezhouba Dam. *Chinese Science Bulletin* 54, 3972-3980.
- Tiffan, K.T. & Rondorf, D.W. & Skalicky, J.J. (2004) Imaging fall Chinook salmon redds in the Columbia River with a dual-frequency identification sonar. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management* **24**, 1421-1426.
- Tiffan, K. F., Haskell, C. A. & Kock, T. J. (2010). Quantifying the behavioral response of spawning chum salmon to elevated discharges from Bonneville Dam, Columbia river, USA. *River Research and Applications* **26**, 87-101.
- Truong, N.T., Gwag, J., Park, Y. & Lee, S. (2005) Genetic diversity of soybean pod shape based on elliptic fourier descriptors. *Korean Journal of Crop Science* **50**, 60-66.
- Tušer, M., Frouzová, J., Balk, H., Muška, M., Mrkvička, T. & Kubečka, J. (2014). Evaluation of potential bias in observing fish with a DIDSON acoustic camera. *Fisheries Research* **155**, 114-121.
- Urick, R. J. (1983). Principles of Underwater Sound. Westport: Peninsula Publishing.

- Vøllestad, L. A., Jonsson, B., Hvidsten, N. A. & Næsje, T. F. (1994). Experimental test of environmental factors influencing the seaward migration of European silver eels. *Journal of Fish Biology* 45, 641-651.
- Vøllestad, L. A., Jonsson, B., Hvidsten, N. A., Næsje, T. F., Haraldstad, Ø. & Ruud-Hansen, J. (1986). Environmental Factors Regulating the Seaward Migration of European Silver Eels (*Anguilla anguilla*). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 43, 1909-1916.
- Walker, R. A. (1963). Some Intense, Low-Frequency, Underwater Sounds of Wide Geographic Distribution, Apparently of Biological Origin. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 35, 1816.
- Wallace T.P. & Wintz P.A. (1980) An efficient three-dimensional aircraft recognition algorithm using normalized fourier descriptors. *Computer Graphics and Image Processing* **13**, 99-126.
- Ward, J. V. (1989). The Four-Dimensional Nature of Lotic Ecosystems. *Journal of the North American* Benthological Society **8**, 2-8.
- Watkins, W. A., Tyack, P. & Moore, K. E. (1987). The 20-Hz signals of finback whales (Balaenoptera physalus). *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* **82**, 1901.
- Webb P.W. (1982) Locomotive patterns in the evolution of actinopterygian fishes. *American Zoologist* **22**, 329-342.
- Williams, K., Wilson, C. D. & Horne, J. K. (2013). Walleye pollock (Theragra chalcogramma) behavior in midwater trawls. *Fisheries Research* **143**, 109-118.
- Wilson, M., Acolas, M. L., Bégout, M. L., Madsen, P. T. & Wahlberg, M. (2008). Allis shad (*Alosa alosa*) exhibit an intensity-graded behavioral response when exposed to ultrasound. *Journal of the Acoustical Sociaty of America* **124**, EL243-EL247.
- Xie, Y., Michielsens, C. G. J., Gray, A. P., Martens, F. J. & Boffey, J. L. (2008). Observations of avoidance reactions of migrating salmon to a mobile survey vessel in a riverine environment. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **65**, 2178-2190.
- Zhang, H., Wei, Q. & Kang, M. (2014). Measurement of swimming pattern and body length of cultured Chinese sturgeon by use of imaging sonar. *Aquaculture* **434**, 184-187.
- Zion B., Alchanatis V., Ostrovsky V., Barki A. & Karplus I. (2007) Real-time underwater sorting of edible fish species. *Computer and Electronics in Agriculture* **56**, 34-45.

Supplementary Material - Chapter III

Length frequency distribution

Length frequency distribution of all measured fish and eel contacts altered throughout the year. Mean length in April was 32 ± 12 cm and length distribution was unimodal (Fig. 6). On an annual perspective the mean length showed a decreasing trend until December when the main peak of eel migration was observed (Fig. 2, 3 and 6). In June there was a bimodal distribution with peaks in the length classes >10-20 cm and >50-60 cm. The unimodal distribution progressively altered into a right-skewed distribution over the year until December. The smallest size class >0-10 cm represented the largest proportion from July until November (Fig. 6).



Figure 6. Monthly relative length frequency distribution of all measured fish and eel contacts. Note: No data for May available.

KURZZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Angesichts ihrer seit jeher großen Anziehungskraft auf den Menschen, erleben aquatische Ökosysteme, insbesondere seit Beginn der Industrialisierung, eine zunehmende Beeinflussung durch anthropogene Veränderungen. Flüsse wurden zum Zwecke der Schiffbarkeit begradigt, mit Querbauwerken zur Energiegewinnung aufgestaut und zunehmend durch Abwässer chemisch und organisch verschmutzt. Ein drastischer Verlust von Habitatdiversität und der Verlust der longitudinalen und horizontalen Durchgängigkeit und Vernetzung sind die Folgen. Überfischung der Bestände und wachsende freizeitliche Nutzung führten darüber hinaus zu stark schrumpfenden Beständen und zum Aussterben der meisten europäischen diadromen Fischarten. Artenschutz- und Wiederansiedlungsprojekte helfen die bedrohten Arten und diverse Fischartengemeinschaften zu erhalten. Essentiell für das erfolgreiche Management und die Umsetzung geeigneter Maßnahmen ist ein diffundiertes Wissen über Populationsentwicklungen, Verhalten und ökologische Ansprüche der Arten in allen Phasen ihrer Lebenszyklen. Hierfür sind geeignete Monitoring- und Erhebungsmethoden grundlegend. Angesichts zunehmend fragiler werdender Bestände einzelner Arten sind nicht-invasive Methoden von großer Bedeutung, da sie die bestehenden Populationen nicht in Mitleidenschaft ziehen und die Entnahme und Beeinträchtigung von Individuen z.B. für Besenderungen vermeiden. Hydroakustische Systeme, insbesondere Imaging-Sonare (DIDSON), bieten eine solche Methode durch den gezielten Einsatz von Schall zur Echtzeit-Visualisierung der Geschehnisse Unterwasser. Das DIDSON liefert auch in trübem Wasser und bei Dunkelheit Bilder und die Möglichkeit Fische zu zählen, zu vermessen und ihr Verhalten zu beobachten.

In einer speziellen Anwendung des Sonars konnten Fischarten anhand ihrer charakteristischen akustischen Schatten im Sonarbild, basierend auf der Anwendung von "Normalised Elliptic Fourier Descriptors" und einer Diskriminanzanalyse voneinander unterschieden werden. Versuche mit Fischschablonen vier verschiedener Fischarten (Brassen, *Abramis brama* (L.), Barbe, *Barbus barbus* (L.), Döbel *Leuciscus cephalus* (L.) und Bachforelle *Salmo trutta* (L.)) in vier verschiedenen Größen (20 cm, 30 cm, 40 cm, 50 cm), zeigten eine Größenschwelle von 20 cm an, ab der die Zuverlässigkeit der Artentrennung abnahm. Auch Mesokosmosversuche mit lebendigen Fischen der vier Arten führten zu Ergebnissen

85

mit einer hohen korrekten Unterscheidungsrate. Standbilder ihrer akustischen Schatten dienten hier als Grundlage.

An einem Maifischlaichplatz (*Alosa Alosa* (L.)) in der Garonne in Frankreich konnten mittels DIDSON Wolken aus Geschlechtsprodukten und Mikroluftbläschen detektiert werden, die aus dem charakteristischen Laichverhalten der Maifische resultieren. Die Fische schwimmen während des Laichaktes in großer Geschwindigkeit eng aneinandergeschmiegt im Kreis. Dabei durchbrechen sie die Wasseroberfläche und erzeugen charakteristische Geräusche und geben die Geschlechtsprodukte in die Wassersäule ab. Der nächtliche Peak der Laichaktivität konnte, basierend auf den Sonaraufnahmen, ermittelt werden. Die Anzahl der Wolken diente als Indikator für die Laichaktivitäten und war im Trend übereinstimmend mit den Auswertungen der gehörten Laichakte, die traditionell in Frankreich als Maß für die Laichaktivität dienen.

Es konnten auch neue Erkenntnisse zum Laichverhalten der Maifische gewonnen werden. So konnte gezeigt werden, dass die Laichakte nicht auf jeweils ein Pärchen beschränkt sind. In etwa einem Drittel der Fälle konnte beobachtet werden, dass drei oder mehr Fische aus einem Laichakt hervorgingen.

In einem Zufluss des Rheins wurde das Sonar oberhalb des Rechens einer Wasserkraftanlage über einen Zeitraum von April bis Dezember installiert, um Veränderungen tageszeitlicher und saisonaler Fischaktivitätsmuster, basierend auf stündlicher Abundanz dreier definierter Gruppen ("Fisch", "Aal" und "Schwarm"), intuitiv erfassbar in Aktivitätsdiagrammen, darzustellen. Aufgrund der Diagramme konnten klare Muster und Migrationspeaks dokumentiert werden. Anhand einer Gegenüberstellung der Aktivität der Risikogruppe kleinerer Fische, die potentiell gefährdet sind den Rechen zu durchdringen und der Energieproduktionsdaten der Anlage, konnten Zeiträume mit höherer oder niedrigerer potentieller Gefahr, sowie die einhergehende Notwendigkeit von Fischschutzmaßnehmen abgeleitet werden.

ERKLÄRUNG

Münster, den 04.05.2018

Ich versichere, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig angefertigt, die benutzten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben und die Stellen der Arbeit – einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen- , die anderen Werken im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, in jedem Einzelfall als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe; dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie – abgesehen von oben angegebenen Teilpublikationen – noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist, sowie, dass ich eine solche Veröffentlichung vor Abschluss des Promotionsverfahrens nicht vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen der Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt. Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von Prof. Dr. Jost Borcherding betreut worden.

Curriculum vitae

Persönliche Angaben

Name	Dipl. Biol. Manuel Langkau
Geburtsdatum/-ort	03.07.1980 in Essen
Anschrift	Von-Esmarch-Str. 10, 48149 Münster
Email	langkau@lfv-westfalen.de
Eltern	Diemut Langkau geb. Vatter und Wolfgang Langkau
Familienstand	ledig
Staatsangehörigkeit	deutsch
Ausbildung	
1987-1991	Fischlaker Schule Essen
1991-2000	Goethe-Gymnasium Essen
Jun 2000	Prüfung zur allgemeinen Hochschulreife (Gesamtnote 2,3)
2002-2008	Diplomstudiengang im Fachbereich Biologie
2002-2004	Grundstudium im Fachbereich Biologie an der Heinrich-
	Heine Universität, Düsseldorf
2004-2008	Hauptstudium im Fachbereich Biologie an der Universität
	zu Köln
	Hauptfach: Zoologie – Aquatische Ökologie
	Nebenfächer: Entwicklungsbiologie, Biochemie
Mai-Jul 2006	Anstellung als studentische Hilfskraft am Zoologischen
	Institut der Universität zu Köln: Analyse der Eizahlen von
	Corbicula fluminea auf dem "Rheinlabor".
Mrz 2008	Abschluss der Diplomprüfung (Gesamtnote 1,0)
	Thema der Diplomarbeit: Piscivore versus planktivore:
	How does morphological change influence ecological
	performance? An intraspecific survey.
Seit Jan 2009	Promotionsstelle beim Landesfischereiverband Westfalen
	und Lippe e.V. und der Ökologischen Außenstelle der
	Universität zu Köln zum Thema: Echoes in motion:

	An acoustic camera (DIDSON) as a monitoring tool in
	applied freshwater ecology. Finanziert durch das
	Ministerium für Klimaschutz, Umwelt, Landwirtschaft,
	Natur- und Verbraucherschutz des Landes
	Nordrheinwestfalen aus Mitteln der Fischereiabgabe.
Seit 2012	Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter in der LFV Hydroakustik
	GmbH
Zusätzliche Arbeitserfa	ahrung
2000-2001	Zivildienst im Altenheim St. Ludgeri, Essen-Werden
2002	Praktikum im Aquazoo – Löbbecke Museum, Düsseldorf
2002	Praktikum in der Kleintierpraxis Kai-Sven Herrmann,
	Essen
2005, 2006, 2007	Hilfstätigkeiten in der Firma LimnoPlan:
	Elektrobefischungen und Fischhandling bei
	Aalmarkierungen
2006	Volontär im Projekt zum Schutz des Afrikanischen
	Chamäleons (Management : Hellenic Ornithological

Society)

Münster, den 04.05.2018

Manuel Langkau